

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Tetrahedron

Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 9-38

Tetrahedron report number 819

# Vitamin B<sub>12</sub> and α-ribonucleosides

Tilak Chandra<sup>\*,†</sup> and Kenneth L. Brown<sup>\*</sup>

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Ohio University, Athens, OH 45701-3132, United States

Received 1 August 2007 Available online 4 September 2007

# Contents

1.	Introduction	10
2.	Vitamin $B_{12}$ and $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides	12
	2.1. Biosynthesis of cobalamin derivatives	12
	2.2. Role of axial ligand, 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole α-ribonucleotide	12
	2.3. Semisynthesis of vitamin $B_{12}$ and synthesis of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole	
	α-ribonucleotide loop	14
3.	α-Ribonucleoside syntheses	16
	3.1. 2-Fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate method	17
	3.1.1. Synthesis of $\alpha/\beta$ -5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides	17
	3.1.2. Semisynthesis of Coβ-cyanobenzimidazolylcobamide	22
	3.1.3. Indoline <i>a</i> -ribonucleosides	23
	3.2. α-Indoline ribonucleosides by direct glycosylation	23
	3.3. Stannic chloride catalyzed glycosylation	24
	3.4. Triflate method: synthesis of pyrimidine α-ribonucleoside	25
	3.5. $\alpha$ -Indoline to $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides	26
	3.6. TMSOTf-mediated epimerization (β-thymidine to α-thymidine)	26
	3.7. Boron trichloride complex method	26
	3.8. Enzymatic separation of $\alpha/\beta$ -nucleosides	27
4.	Deprotection of α-ribonucleosides	27
	4.1. Deprotection of $\alpha$ -imidazole/benzimidazole ribonucleosides by catalytic carbon	
	tetrabromide initiated photolysis	28
5.	NMR and X-ray structures of α-ribonucleosides	29
	5.1. Structure of α-ribazole	29
	5.2. Imidazole and 5-haloimidazole $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides	29
	5.3. NMR and X-ray structures of indoline and indole α-ribonucleosides	31
	5.4. Determination of anomeric configuration by cross-correlated relaxation between $H^{1'}$	
	chemical shift anisotropy and $H^{1'}-H^{2'}$ dipolar relaxation mechanisms modulated by local	
	motions in ribonucleosides	32
6.	Conclusions	35
	References and notes	35
	Biographical sketch	38

Keywords: Vitamin B<sub>12</sub>; Co-enzyme; Guided biosynthesis; Glycosylation; α-Ribonucleoside.

*Abbreviations*: B<sub>12</sub>, vitamin B<sub>12</sub>; CNCbl, cyanocobalamin; OH-Cbl, hydroxocobalamin; AdoCbl, 5-deoxyadenosylcobalamin; Cbl, cobalamin; TMSOTF, trimethylsilyl triflate; DMBI, dimethylbenzimidazole; TCE, trichloroethene; *P. shermanii*, *Propionibacterium shermanii*; Ado(BzIm)Cbl, 5-deoxyadenosylbenzimidazolylcobamide; Ado(Im)Cbl, 5-deoxyadenosylimidazolylcobamide; RTPR, ribonucleoside triphosphate reductase; Tol, toluoyl; TMS, trimethylsilyl; TEA, triethylamine; DMF, dimethylformamide; Ac, acetyl; Bn, benzyl; Bz, benzoyl; Tr, trityl; TFA, trifluoroacetic acid; FMPT, 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors. E-mail addresses: chandra@ohio.edu; brownk3@ohio.edu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Present address: Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT 59715, United States.

### 1. Introduction

Various nucleoside/carbohydrate bearing species found in nature are important biomolecules. Nucleosides/carbohydrates play a vital role in biological systems and control a number of reactions in living cells. Naturally occurring ribonucleosides are almost always in the β-anomeric configuration with the exception of the vitamin  $B_{12}$  family (Fig. 1), in which an  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside is included in the structure as the lower axial ligand.<sup>1,2</sup> About a dozen enzymes, including the  $B_{12}$  dependent ribonucleoside triphosphate reductase, ethanolamine ammonia lyase,4 glutamate mutase,5 and methylmalonyl CoA mutase require a B<sub>12</sub> cofactor. The cofactor for these reactions, 5-deoxyadenosylcobalamin (AdoCbl, co-enzyme B<sub>12</sub>, Fig. 2), plays an important role by releasing a reactive species, 5-deoxyadenosyl radical, upon enzyme-induced cleavage of the carbon-cobalt bond. The mechanism of this enzymatic 'activation' of the co-enzyme, in which homolysis of C-Co bond catalyzed by some 10<sup>9</sup> to 10<sup>14</sup>-fold remains unknown.

Vitamin  $B_{12}$  derivatives are octahedral coordination complexes of Co(III) with a macrocyclic tetradentate equatorial ligand (the corrin ring), a lower axial 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole (DMBI) ligand coordinated to cobalt through the imidazole (N-3) atom, and attached to a corrin ring side chain as an unusual  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside (to form the 'nucleotide loop'),<sup>6</sup> and various upper axial ligands (cyanide=vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, CH<sub>3</sub>=methylcobalamin, 5-deoxyadenosyl=AdoCbl). The Co-C linkage in AdoCbl was the first metal-carbon bond described in biological systems and is the key to the enzymatic activity of the B<sub>12</sub> co-enzyme. This report addresses recent advances in the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides, for which little prior literature exists, and which permits modification of the lower axial ligand of B<sub>12</sub> for mechanistic studies.

Vitamin  $B_{12}$  derivatives with altered lower axial ligands are of interest as probes of the mechanism of action of coenzyme  $B_{12}$ . In order to determine what role, if any, the lower axial ligand plays in the enzymatic activation of co-enzyme  $B_{12}$ , it is necessary to synthesize vitamin  $B_{12}$  derivatives with altered axial nucleosides. Although such analogs may be obtained by guided biosynthesis,<sup>7</sup> using fermentation of appropriate bacteria on media supplemented with the





desired axial base, analogs with indole axial nucleotides (which mimic the natural structure but lack the coordinating nitrogen) cannot be obtained, as these organisms fail to gly-cosylate indoles to make the required nucleoside precursor.<sup>8</sup> Semisynthesis of such cobalamin derivatives is best achieved by coupling cobyric acid mixed anhydride with a nucleoside 3'-phosphodiester having an (*R*)-(-)-1-amino-2-propanol residue. For the synthesis of the latter nucleotide, the critical step is the synthesis of the nucleoside, which has the unusual  $\alpha$ -*N*-glycosidic bond configuration.<sup>8-15</sup>

5,6-Dimethyl- $\alpha$ -D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole is one of the few naturally occurring  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides that has attracted significant attention due to its possible role in the activation of co-enzyme B<sub>12</sub>.<sup>1</sup> A number of nucleoside and oligonucleotide analogs have been used in medicinal applications due to their diverse biological effects in human beings,<sup>16</sup> but a majority of these compounds are analogs of  $\beta$ -nucleosides.  $\beta$ -Nucleosides are common in nature and can be prepared easily by established glycosylation methods. On the other hand, the use of  $\alpha$ -nucleosides and their analogs is limited due to the limited availability of synthetic routes to these anomers. Thus, only a limited number of  $\alpha$ -nucleosides are





R = CN (B3 - deazacyanocobalamin)

known for their biological activity in human beings. a-2-Deoxythioguanosine has shown promising antitumor activity and been found to be less toxic compared to its  $\beta$ counterparts.<sup>17</sup> As *a*-ribonucleosides have not attracted much synthetic attention, most a-ribonucleosides arise as by-products of glycosylation reactions intended for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -ribonucleosides. Although some general glycosylation reactions produce up to 40–50% of the  $\alpha$ -anomer, it is often difficult to separate the  $\alpha$ -anomer from its  $\beta$ -counterpart by column chromatography or crystallization, due to their similar  $R_f$  values and chemical nature. Since indoles and indolines are not incorporated into cobalamin structure when the media of B<sub>12</sub> overproducing bacteria are supplemented with them, it is necessary to prepare the  $\alpha$ -nucleosides or nucleotides of indole, and their substituted derivatives for semisynthesis of B3-deaza derivatives of vitamin  $B_{12}$ . The replacement of the 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole nucleotide<sup>18</sup> with a 5,6-dimethylindole nucleotide loop will produce an exact replica of the cobalamin without a coordinating nitrogen and serve as a test for the role, if any, of axial ligand coordination in the enzymatic activation of AdoCbl.

Vitamin B<sub>12</sub> has been widely used for targeting cancer cells and for incorporating various bioactive molecules.<sup>19</sup> Many bioconjugates of vitamin B<sub>12</sub> have been prepared and used as receptor modulating agents for treating cancer. Neoplastic disorders such as leukemia, sarcoma, myeloma, carcinoma, neuroma, melanoma, cancers of the lung, liver, breast, colon, cervix, and prostate can be treated by such receptor modulating agents.<sup>20</sup>  $B_{12}$  is a large water soluble biomolecule and structural alterations are possible without affecting the affinity to different transporter and receptor proteins. Recent uses of cobalamin and its conjugates as delivery vehicles for cytotoxic anticancer drugs and fluorescent tumor imaging agents for malignant cells have given hope for new therapeutics for the treatment of these deadly diseases. Vitamin B<sub>12</sub> can be easily conjugated to anticancer and radiotracer drugs for transport to specific sites. Grissom and co-workers have attached a number of cytotoxic drugs to cobalamin as upper axial ligands or to the 5'-carbon of the ribose sugar (Fig. 3).<sup>19b-e</sup> Such  $B_{12}$ -drug conjugates are nontoxic until they reach the target site. Other bioconjugates of  $B_{12}$ modified at the 5'-sugar carbon have been reported, and have affinity for intrinsic factor (IF) similar to that of CNCbl-e-COO<sup>-</sup>. The 5'-hydroxyl group has been activated with 1,1-carbonyldiimidazole, 1,1-carbonyldi(1,2,4-triazole), or di(1-benzotriazolyl)carbonate and then added to aminoalkanes, diaminoalkanes, or alkanedihydrazides (Fig. 4) to produce CNCbl analogs.

Cobalamins and their derivatives have been used as efficient catalysts.<sup>21</sup> The availability of the different oxidation states of cobalt in B<sub>12</sub> results in the formation of Co-alkyl derivatives and also in the lability of the Co-C bond, which is easily cleaved thermally or photochemically. The reducing properties of the B<sub>12</sub> have been widely explored in reductive dehalogenations.<sup>22</sup> Polychlorinated ethylenes are among the most commonly found volatile organics in ambient ground water in the United States. B<sub>12</sub> is involved in both the enzymatic and nonenzymatic dehalogenation reactions.<sup>22</sup> Several microorganisms have been isolated recently that can convert perchloroethylene (PCE) into trichloroethene (TCE), and subsequently TCE into cis-1,2-dichloroethene. The enzyme responsible for this dechlorination reaction uses a vitamin  $B_{12}$  derivative as its active cofactor. While the mechanisms involved in reductive dehalogenation of TCE are still under investigation, it is clear that the availability of reduced oxidation states is crucial and the reduction pathway goes through *cis*-DCE formation.<sup>23</sup>



Figure 3. B<sub>12</sub> colchicine analog.



# 2. Vitamin $B_{12}$ and $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides

Vitamin B<sub>12</sub> has attracted considerable attention since its discovery as the antipernicious anemic factor in liver.<sup>24</sup> 5,6-Dimethyl-a-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole of cobalamins is tethered to the corrin ring via the nucleotide loop, the unique features of which include the  $\alpha$ -configuration of the N-glycoside and phosphorylation of the 3-hydroxyl group of the nucleoside sugar. The steric bulk of the lower axial ligand may be involved in triggering Co-C bond dissociation to form the adenosine radical, which is responsible for the enzymatic reactions involving 1,2-intramolecular substrate rearrangements or the reduction of ribonucleotides to deoxyribonucleotides. So far, only limited synthesis and characterization of rare  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides have been available in the literature. Our ongoing project for the semisynthesis/partial synthesis of cobalamin analogs<sup>25</sup> modified in the axial base (Fig. 5) requires the synthesis of the lower axial ligand of the nucleotide loop and has led to a variety of analogs of  $B_{12}^{1,2}$  in which the lower axial ligand is replaced with benzimidazole, imidazole, 4/5-fluoroimidazole, 4/5-bromoimidazole, and 4/5-methylimidazole.<sup>1</sup> These analogs have been obtained by fermentation of Propionibacterium shermanii on media supplemented with the desired bases ('guided biosynthesis').<sup>26</sup> These axially modified cobalamin derivatives are readily converted into co-enzyme B<sub>12</sub> analogs by reductive adenosylation with 5'-chloro-5'deoxyadenosine. However, attempts to synthesize cobalamin derivatives with the indole or indoline axial nucleotides by guided biosynthesis have failed because the bacteria are incapable of incorporating these bases or their *α*-ribonucleosides into the nucleotide loop structure.<sup>27</sup>

## 2.1. Biosynthesis of cobalamin derivatives

The cyano derivatives of the Cbl analogs, Co $\beta$ -cyanobenzimidazolylcobamide (CN(Bzim)Cbl), Co $\beta$ -cyanoimidazolylcobamide (CN(Im)Cbl), and Co $\beta$ -cyano-4/5-fluoroimidazolylcobamide were readily obtained by 'guided biosynthesis' using fermentation of *P. shermanii* on media supplemented with desired base (Table 1), employing a modification of the method of Renz.<sup>26</sup> *P. shermanii* (ATCC 13673) was grown on solid microassay culture agar (DIFCO) in a test tube and made anaerobic by overlaying the culture with



Figure 5. Analogs of co-enzyme B<sub>12</sub>.

unsolidified, sterilized agar solution. After 5 days of growth at 30 °C, the culture was stored at 4 °C until use. The desired bases  $\approx 20-30$  mg were added to the fermentation media as an ethanolic solution. After the usual workup the crude biosynthetic product was loaded onto a  $4 \times 15$  cm column of GC-161C absorbent and was washed with excess of water and 5% aqueous acetonitrile. The corrinoids were eluted with 15% aqueous acetonitrile, and the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. Crude products were further purified by semi-preparative HPLC using a  $10 \times 250$  mm C-8 column. To obtain high purity CN(B)Cbl, it was necessary to change the HPLC retention time of the product to effect separation from unidentified impurities. This was accomplished by conversion of the CN(B)Cbl to its aqua form by reduction with zinc in dilute acid followed by reoxidation in aerobic dilute HCl. Final purification by HPLC then permitted separation from the impurities that had coeluted with the cyano derivative. The purified aqua corrinoid was converted to its cyano derivative by reaction with KCN and desalting on a CG-161C column.

# 2.2. Role of axial ligand, 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole α-ribonucleotide

The question of what role, if any, the 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole ribonucleoside in  $B_{12}$  plays in the activation of co-enzyme is a longstanding one. The effect of the steric bulk of the axial nucleoside base on the enzymatic activation of co-enzyme B<sub>12</sub> has been investigated using the co-enzyme analog in which imidazole replaces the bulky 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole ligand (Ado(Im)Cbl, Fig. 1).<sup>1</sup> The effect of basicity of the axial nucleoside may be similarly probed using 5-substituted imidazole nucleosides. The roles of the D-ribosyl moiety and the bulky axial ligand of the nucleotide loop of adenosylcobalamin in co-enzymatic function have been investigated using two series of co-enzyme analogs bearing various artificial bases. The ribose moiety also plays important role by placing the dimethylbenzimidazole base in proper site. Cobalamin analogs in which the ribose is substituted by an aliphatic linker have been extensively studied by Toraya and co-workers.<sup>28</sup> Here, the phosphate and base were linked by di-, tri-, tetra-, and hexa-methylene spacer groups in the case of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole base and a trimethylene spacer group in the case of the imidazole base (Fig. 6). The authors found that these analogs show weaker coordination of the base to the cobalt atom, and were less active compared to AdoCbl (co-enzyme). There has long been interest in the question of whether the axial nucleotide plays a significant role in the activation of the co-enzyme, and this interest has only been heightened by recent findings that different AdoCbl-dependent enzymes manipulate the axial ligation of the co-enzyme in different ways.

Perhaps the most well studied of the proposed mechanisms for enzymatic activation of AdoCbl involving the axial nucleotide are the so-called 'mechanochemical triggering' mechanisms.<sup>29</sup> The classical version of mechanochemical triggering envisions ground-state destabilization of AdoCbl by enzymatic compression of the long (2.24 Å)<sup>30</sup> axial Co–N bond leading to a sterically induced increase in the upward fold of the corrin ring,<sup>31</sup> and consequent steric pressure on the axial Co–C bond stretching and weakening it.

 Table 1. Biosynthesis of analogs of AdoCbl using Propionibacterium shermanii<sup>26</sup>

Base added to the medium	Analogs	Ref.
HO N or HO OH N		1
$\mathbb{A}$ Br 4(5)-Bromoimidazole	CN CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO CO	1
$\mathbb{N}$ $\mathbb{P}$ 4(5)-Fluoroimidazole		1
Me N Me	HO CN	1
H Benzimidazole		1
H Me Me	Did not incorporate	27
H 5,6-Dimethylindoline Me	Did not incorporate	27
HZ C	Did not incorporate	27
Indoline	Did not incorporate	25
	Did not incorporate	25
	Did not incorporate	25
	Did not incorporate	25



Figure 6.

# 2.3. Semisynthesis of vitamin B<sub>12</sub> and synthesis of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole α-ribonucleotide loop

Woodward took on the enormous task of the total synthesis of vitamin  $B_{12}$ , a complex and sensitive biomolecule. The synthesis of the vitamin  $B_{12}$  has been characterized as the most spectacular synthetic endeavor of the 20th century.<sup>32</sup> Cobyric acid is the primary target of vitamin  $B_{12}$  synthesis (Scheme 1), and can be used to prepare cobalamin derivatives modified at lower axial ligand. Acid hydrolysis of vitamin  $B_{12}$  either by hydrochloric acid or TFA produces cobyric acid in moderate yields.<sup>33</sup> In order to synthesize the analogs of cobalamins modified at lower axial

NO<sub>2</sub>

(i)

Me

Me

НÓ

Ò٢

3

TrO

ligand, this acid hydrolysis of vitamin  $B_{12}$  remains the best option.

 $H_2N$ 

 $\cdot$ 

 $NH_2$ 

NΗ

In 1952, Folkers and co-workers reported for the first time degradation products of  $B_{12}$  by acid hydrolysis and they later compared the properties of the isolated product with synthetic  $\alpha$ -ribazole (1-D- $\alpha$ -ribofuranosyl-5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole).<sup>34</sup> In order to prepare  $\alpha$ -ribazole, 2-nitro-4,5-dimethyl-*N*-(5'-trityl-D-ribofuranosyl)aniline, **3**, was used as a starting material. Hydrogenation of the nitroriboside in methanol on a palladium catalyst yielded the amine, **4**, which was converted to the benzimidazole derivative, and subsequent removal of the trityl group afforded  $\alpha$ -ribazole, **6** (Scheme 2).



NH<sub>2</sub>

NH

Ô⊦

4

(ii)

TrO

HO

нó

HC

(iii)

Oł

6

5

Me

Me

Me

Me

HÓ

TrO

Scheme 1.



The use of 2,3,5-protected ribofuranosyl chloride for glycosylation of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole has been reported by Fletcher and co-workers.<sup>35</sup> Reaction of 2,3,5-tri-*O*-benzyl-D-ribofuranosyl chloride, **7**, with 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole provides the desired nucleoside in good yields. Condensation of the halide in dioxane solution with slightly more than 2 mequiv of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole provides  $1-(2,3,5-tri-O-benzyl-\alpha-D-ribofuranosyl)-5,6-dimethylbenz$ imidazole**8**in 66% yield after column purification (Scheme 3). $<math>\alpha$ -Ribazole **6** was easily obtained by catalytic debenzylation using 10% palladium on charcoal and palladium chloride in excellent yields. Minor variations in the condensation of the sugar and base have been studied. Interestingly, the use of acetonitrile as a solvent decreases the yield of the desired  $\alpha$ -nucleoside and the use of the silver salt of 5,6dimethylbenzimidazole in acetonitrile decreases the yield to 25%.

The synthetic scheme for  $B_{12}$  is shown in Scheme 4 starting from the protected 5,6-dimethylbenzimiodazole ribonucleoside, 9. The nucleotide loop was prepared in seven steps. Cobyric acid mixed anhydride was condensed with the



Scheme 3. Reagents and conditions: (i) dimethylbenzimidazole dioxane, 100 °C, 66%; (ii) methanol, palladium on charcoal, 94%.



Scheme 4. Reagents and conditions: (i) NaOMe, methanol, rt; (ii) TrCl, pyridine, rt; (iii) β-cyanoethylphosphate, DCC, pyridine, rt; (iv) AcOH, 60 °C; (v) NH<sub>4</sub>OH, 50–60 °C; (vi) DCC, formamide, 2 N, NH<sub>4</sub>OH; (vii) potassium salt of p-1-amino-2-propanol; (viii) ethylchloroformate, DMF, TEA; (ix) TEA, DMF.

nucleotide loop in the presence of base. D-1-(Benzyloxycarbonylamino)propan-2-ol can also be condensed with cobyric acid in presence of acid (Scheme 5) and gives two isomeric phosphodiesters, which can be easily separated by chromatography. The reaction of the mixture of 2'- and 3'-phosphodiester with cobyric acid afforded the corresponding 2'- and 3'-isomer of cobalamin. The 2'-isomer was found to be inactive and more labile compared to B<sub>12</sub> due to steric effects.<sup>33d</sup>

Norvitamin  $B_{12}$ , **17**, is the first known naturally occurring  $B_{12}$  cofactor, which lacks the peripheral methyl group in the propanol residue of the nucleotide loop. Krautler and co-workers<sup>36</sup> prepared it by partial synthesis from cobyric acid and 2-aminoethyl-3-ribazolyl phosphate in 73% overall yields (Scheme 6). The nucleotide loop was synthesized by converting ethanolamine to its cyclic phosphate. The reaction produces the two isomeric 3'- and 2'-phosphate, in a 5:1 ratio and the isomers are easily separated by preparative TLC. The authors later postulated that the methyl group at periphery plays an important role by stabilizing the stable base-on conformation.

#### **3.** α-Ribonucleoside syntheses

While many routes exist for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -*N*-glyco-sides,<sup>37</sup> there are few methods available for the  $\alpha$ -anomers.

The synthesis of purine and pyrimidine nucleosides is generally carried out by silver salt,<sup>38</sup> chloromercury,<sup>39</sup> fusion,<sup>40</sup> phase transfer,<sup>41</sup> sodium salt,<sup>42</sup> or the boron trifluoride etherate<sup>43</sup> methods. These reagents are useful for constructing the  $\beta$ -glycosidic bond, but not the  $\alpha$ -glycosidic bond, as they usually produce the  $\beta$ -nucleoside as the major product, and the  $\alpha$ -nucleoside as a minor side product. The Vorbrüggen glycosylation<sup>44</sup> method is now frequently used for the preparation of the  $\beta$ -nucleosides (Scheme 7), using Friedel–Crafts catalysts to promote the glycosylation reaction. In this method, silylated purine, pyrimidine, or heterocyclic bases are treated with fully acylated sugars using trimethylsilyl triflate or tin(IV) chloride. Sugars protected with 2-acyloxy groups give *N*-glycosides with the  $\beta$ -configuration due to neighboring group participation.



Scheme 7. B=TMS-protected purine or pyrimidine bases.

Fletcher and co-workers<sup>35</sup> utilized partially benzylated sugars for making  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides. Condensation of



Scheme 5. Reagents and conditions: (i) D-1-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)propan-2-ol; (ii) hydrogenolysis, Pd; (iii) cobyric acid mixed anhydride, base.



2',3',5'-tri-O-benzyl-D-ribofuranosyl chloride with 5,6dimethylbenzimidazole produces up to 66% protected ribonucleoside and subsequent catalytic deprotection gives  $\alpha$ -ribazole in 94% yields. The authors also postulated that the presence of a participating acyl group at C-2 in glycosyl halides ends up with the formation of ribonucleosides in the  $\beta$ -configuration.

The reaction of 1-hydroxy sugars such as 2,3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose<sup>45</sup> or 5-O-benzovl-2.3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-D-ribofuranose<sup>46</sup> with trimethylsilylated benzimidazole and other nitrogenous bases, including nucleoside bases and azides, using 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate as condensing reagent (Scheme 8), provides predominantly  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides. However, as much as 47% of the  $\beta$ -anomer is obtained in some cases, requiring difficult separations of these isomeric mixtures by column chromatography and to date, no full characterization and isolation of these compounds have been reported. There are reports<sup>47</sup> of the use of ribofuranosyl chlorides for  $\alpha$ -glycosylation, but these also produce mixtures of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -N-glycoside. There had been not a single report of a reaction, which produces the  $\alpha$ -nucleoside exclusively (Table 2) until our report<sup>12</sup> that the reaction of TMS-protected indoline bases (dimethyl indoline, 5-bromoindoline, and indoline) with 2,3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose gives exclusively  $\alpha$ -indoline ribonucleosides in excellent yield without the formation of any detectable  $\beta$ -ribonucleoside.

#### 3.1. 2-Fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate method

Mukaiyama and co-workers developed a stereoselective synthesis for  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides starting from 1-hydroxy sugars, using 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate.<sup>15</sup> The sugar–pyridinium complex is believed to be more reactive toward nucleoside bases than to fluoride ion under reaction conditions (Scheme 8). The glycosylation reaction of dimethylbenzimidazole and 5-*O*-benzoyl-2,3-*O*-isopropylidene-D-ribofuranose was most stereospecific and afforded the  $\alpha$ -anomer in a 90:10 ratio (Table 2). Protected theophylline generates maximum  $\beta$ -anomer due to the solubility of the

base anion under reaction conditions.<sup>15</sup> The preferential reaction of the  $\beta$ -anomer, which remains in equilibrium with the  $\alpha$ -anomer, with 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate fixes the configuration of the anomeric carbon.  $\alpha$ -Nucleosides are considered to be the products of an  $S_N2$  reaction with inversion at the anomeric center of the intermediate.

The extension of this methodology to other heterocyclic bases such as fluoro-, bromo- and iodoimidazole and indolines was investigated by Brown and co-workers and shown to result in complete regio- and stereoselectivity.<sup>9,12</sup> The  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were obtained in good yields without any complicated purification, and formation of 4-substituted haloimidazole ribonucleoside was not observed.

3.1.1. Synthesis of  $\alpha/\beta$ -5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides. In order to explore the role of basicity of the axial ligand in the activation of co-enzyme, we prepared a series of  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides of 5-haloimidazole in excellent vields.<sup>9</sup> Reaction of TMS-protected 4(5)-fluoro-, bromo-, and iodoimidazole with 2,3-O-(1-isopropylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose produced the 5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides predominantly in the  $\alpha$ -configuration in 60-75% yield without any 4-substituted imidazole ribonucleoside (Scheme 9, Table 3). The 5-halo regioisomer was formed exclusively, while the  $\alpha$ -anomer predominated by 3:1 to 5:1 ratio. The anomeric mixture was easily separated on flash silica gel column using an ether/benzene mixture. The crude reaction mixture showed only two products, the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -anomer of 5-haloimidazole nucleosides, and no 4-halo substituted imidazole was detected.

There are reports on trimethylsilyltriflate-catalyzed glycosylation of 4(5)-substituted imidazole with protected ribose, which produces both 4- and 5-substituted  $\beta$ -imidazole ribosides with the 4-regioisomers predominating (Scheme 10).<sup>61</sup> The 4-isomer would be expected to be favored from steric considerations.<sup>62</sup> However, in our synthetic protocols, the <sup>1</sup>H NMR of crude reaction mixtures showed only two products, the  $\alpha$ -anomer (major) and  $\beta$ -anomer (minor) of the 5-haloimidazole ribonucleoside, as established using <sup>1</sup>H NOE after purification.



Table 2. Summary of the glycosylation reactions, which produce maximum  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides

Base	Sugar	Catalyst	Nucleoside	Yields (%) (a)	Ref.
F N SiMe <sub>3</sub>	TrOOOH OOOH H <sub>3</sub> CCH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ↓ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	$\begin{array}{c} \text{TrO} & \text{H} \\ & \text{O} & \text{N} \\ & \text{O} & \text{O} \\ & \text{H}_{3}\text{C} & \text{CH}_{3} \\ \end{array} $	75 <sup>a</sup>	9
Br N SiMe <sub>3</sub>	Tro O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	N F Me OTs <sup>O</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Tro} & \text{H} \\ & \text{N} \\ & \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} $ \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}   \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}   \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array}  \\ \end{array}   \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array}  \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array}  \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array}  \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}   \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{H}_{3} \text{C} \end{array} \\ \end{array}  \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}   \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}   \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \end{array}  \\ \\ \\ \end{array}	65 <sup>ª</sup>	9
IN N SiMe₃	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ⊢ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	$\begin{array}{c} TrO & O & H \\ O & O & N \\ H_{3}C & CH_{3} N \end{array}$	65 <sup>a</sup>	9
$\bigcup_{\substack{N\\ SiMe_3}}^{N}$	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ⊢ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me		60 <sup>a</sup>	9
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N Me Me	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ⊢ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> Me Me	96	12
SiMe <sub>3</sub>	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	N F Me OTs <sup>O</sup>	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> C	96	12
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N Br	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ⊢ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> Br	92	12
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N N Me Me	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	N F Me OTs <sup>O</sup>	TrO O H O O N Me H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> Me	80 <sup>a</sup>	12
SiMe <sub>3</sub> I N	BZO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ⊢ OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	BzO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	89	15
SiMe <sub>3</sub>	TrOOOH OOOH H <sub>3</sub> CCH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F ↓ OTs <sup>⊖</sup> Me		70 <sup>a</sup>	12
SiMe <sub>3</sub>	BZO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	N F H OTs <sup>O</sup>	BzO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> N	86	15
SiMe <sub>3</sub> O N N N N N N N N N N N N N	TrO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	(+) N F I OTs <sup>⊙</sup> Me	$TrO \rightarrow O \rightarrow N \rightarrow N \rightarrow N \rightarrow Me$ $H_3C \rightarrow CH_3 \rightarrow Me$	53	15

 Table 2. (continued)

Base	Sugar	Catalyst	Nucleoside	Yields (%) (6	a) Ref.
Me N Me	BnO OBn	None	BnO OBn N Me	66	35
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N N Me Me	BnO OBn	Molecular sieves 4 Å, NBS	BnO OBn N Me		47
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N N Me Me	BnO BnO OBn	Molecular sieves 4 Å, NBS	BnO OBn N Me		47
$R_1$ N $R_2$ N N H	HO HO HO HO HO OH	Pyridine		55	48
$R_1$ $R_2$ $N$ $N$ $R_2$ $N$ $H$	HO HO HO HO HO HO HO HO	Pyridine		55	48
$R_1$ $R_2$ $N$ $H$	HO HO HO HO OH	Pyridine		55	48
	BnO O C U O	_		24	49
$O_2 N \rightarrow N$	BzO OAc BzO OBz	SnCl <sub>4</sub> , Hg(CN) <sub>2</sub>		61	50
OSi(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> N (H <sub>3</sub> C) <sub>3</sub> SiO	p-TolO O O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	TMSOTf	p-TolO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> N O O H	65	51
OSi(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> N H (H <sub>3</sub> C) <sub>3</sub> SiO N	p-TolO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	TMSOTf	p-TolO O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> O O O O H	65	51
OSi(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> (H <sub>3</sub> C) <sub>3</sub> SiO	H <sub>3</sub> C O OCH <sub>3</sub> O O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	TMSOTf	$H_3C$ $O$ $N$ $O$ $H_3C$ $CH_3$ $N$ $O$ $H_3C$ $CH_3$ $N$ $N$ $O$	_	52
			о́н	(6	continued)

#### Table 2. (continued)

Base	Sugar	Catalyst	Nucleoside	Yields (%) (a)	Ref.
P N-N Ims	BzO OAc BzO OBz	TMSOTf	BzO BzO BzO BzO BzP		53
SiMe <sub>3</sub> N N OTMS		SnCl <sub>4</sub>			54
	TolO TolO	$SnCl_4$			55
	BzO BzO	KI, dibenzo-18-crown-6	BZO BZO N N NH2 NH2		56
Me N Me N/2 Sn	TrO O O H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub>	F OPOCl <sub>2</sub>	HO $\xrightarrow{HO}$ $\xrightarrow{P}$ $\xrightarrow{O}$ $\xrightarrow{O}$ $\xrightarrow{N}$ $\xrightarrow{Me}$ $\xrightarrow{Me}$ $\xrightarrow{H_3C}$ $\xrightarrow{CH_3}$ $\xrightarrow{Me}$ $\xrightarrow{Me}$		57
NHBz N N N N HgCl	BnO SMe HO	Cl(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> Cl			58
$\overset{CI}{\underset{H_2N}{\overset{N}{\overset{N}{\underset{N}{\underset{N}{\overset{N}{\underset{N}{\underset{N}{\overset{N}{\underset{N}{\underset{N}{\overset{N}{\underset{N}{\atopN}{\underset{N}{\atopN}}{\underset{N}{\underset{N}}{\underset{N}}{\underset{N}}{\underset{N}}{\underset{N}}{\underset{N}}{}}}}}}}}$		Cs <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> , NMP			59
	MeO N MeS N H	NaH, DMF	$TrO \rightarrow O \rightarrow N \rightarrow SMe \\ O \rightarrow O \rightarrow N \rightarrow OMe \\ H_3C \rightarrow CH_3 \rightarrow O - OMe $		60
<sup>a</sup> Isolated vields					

Isolated yields.



Scheme 9. Reagents and conditions: (i) NaNO<sub>2</sub>, Zn dust, HBF<sub>4</sub>, photolysis; (ii) 4-bromo-, 4-iodoimidazole, and imidazole, HMDS, reflux; (iii) 2-fluoromethyl pyridinium tosylate, DIEA, methylene chloride, -30 to 0 °C; (iv) TFA, rt, 90–95%, or methanol/HCl.

Table 3. Isolated yields and crude ratios of  $\alpha/\beta$ -5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides

α/	Crude ratio	Isolated yields (%)		Total yields (%)	
p-Ribonucleoside	a/p (%)	α	β	α+β	
5-Fluoroimidazole	80/20	75	15	90	
5-Bromoimidazole	70/30	65	15	80	
5-Iodoimidazole	80/20	65	20	85	
Imidazole	70/30	60	18	78	

<sup>a</sup> Determined by NMR.



Scheme 10. Reagents and conditions: (i) BSA, TMSOTf, 60  $^\circ\text{C},$  protected ribose.

Interestingly, when 4(5)-fluoroimidazole was used to supplement the growth medium during the fermentation of *P. shermanii*, two analogs of cyanocobalamin were produced, one with 4-fluoroimidazole axial nucleotide and one with 5-fluoroimidazole axial nucleotide (Scheme 11).

These two analogs were distinguished by the prominent <sup>1</sup>H NMR NOE cross-peak between the imidazole 5-H and the ribose anomeric proton in the 4-fluoroimidazole analog, which is absent in the ROESY spectrum of 5-fluoroimidazole analog. The structures of these isomers were confirmed by complete <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR assignments and mass spectroscopy. For further study, 4-fluoroimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside analogs can be made by the hydrolysis of the corresponding cyanocobalamin analogs.

For spectroscopic comparison the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -ribonucleoside of imidazole was also prepared using the same methodology (Scheme 9). The absence of an NOE between the C(4)5imidazole proton and the anomeric proton, readily observable in the imidazole nucleoside, confirms the structure of the 5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides. For the synthesis of the 5-fluoroimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside, the 4(5)-fluoroimidazole base<sup>63,64</sup> was prepared from 4(5)-nitroimidazole in moderate yield by conversion to the diazonium salt followed by irradiation in aqueous tetrafluoroboric acid. After purification, the free base was converted to the TMS-fluoroimidazole by refluxing in HMDS for 10 h. For coupling of the TMS-protected base to the protected ribose, a mixture of 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate and 2,3-O-(1-isopropylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose was stirred in methylene chloride at -30 to -10 °C in basic



medium for 3 h and the TMS-protected base was added at 10 °C. The crude reaction mixture showed only the 5-halosubstituted  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside along with a minor amount of  $\beta$ -anomer by NMR. After flash chromatography, the crude mixture afforded 75%  $\alpha$ -anomer and 15–20%  $\beta$ -anomer (Table 3). The other 5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides were obtained from the 4(5)-haloimidazoles similarly.

# **3.1.2.** Semisynthesis of Coβ-cyanobenzimidazolylcobamide. We successfully prepared Coβ-cyanobenzimidazolylcobamide from $\alpha$ -benzimidazole ribonucleoside.<sup>65</sup> The $\alpha$ -ribonucleotide loop was prepared in eight steps starting from the benzimidazole base (Scheme 12). The desired $\alpha$ -benzimidazole ribonucleoside **55** was easily prepared by coupling 2,3-*O*-(1-methylethylidene)-5-*O*-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose and the TMS-protected benzimidazole in presence of 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium *p*-toluene sulfonate. The partial synthesis of the cobalamin derivatives was

achieved by coupling the nucleotide with cobyric acid mixed anhydride obtained from vitamin  $B_{12}$  hydrolysis.<sup>33</sup> The  $\alpha$ ribonucleoside was isolated in pure form as a crystalline solid in 70% yield by fractional crystallization using an ethyl acetate/hexane mixture. The protected nucleoside was deprotected without any difficulty using trifluoroacetic acid at ambient temperature or catalytic carbon tetrabromide in methanol in excellent yield. The deprotected ribonucleoside 56 was selectively protected at 5'-position with trityl chloride in pyridine at ambient temperature. Phosphorylation at the 3'-position was accomplished with  $\beta$ -cvanoethylphosphate and DCC in pyridine in 70-80% yield, followed by deprotection of the 5-hydroxyl using acetic acid at elevated temperature to give the corresponding alcohol, **59**. In the next step, the phosphate was deprotected using ammonium hydroxide at 50-60 °C, which afforded a mixture of the 2'- and 3'-nucleotide. Without any further purification, the nucleotide mixture was converted to the corresponding



Scheme 12. Reagents and conditions: (i) 2-fluoromethyl pyridinium tosylate, DIEA, methylene chloride, -30 to 0 °C; (ii) TFA, rt; (iii) TrCl, pyridine; (iv)  $\beta$ -cyanoethylphosphate, DCC, pyridine, rt; (v) AcOH, 60 °C; (vi) NH<sub>4</sub>OH, 50–60 °C; (vii) DCC, formamide, 2 N NH<sub>4</sub>OH; (viii) potassium salt of D-1-amino-2-propanol; (ix) cobyric acid mixed anhydride, TEA, DMF.



#### Scheme 13.

cvclic phosphate. 61, which was isolated in good vield using DCC and ammonium hydroxide in a mixture of DMF and formamide. (R)-(-)-1-Amino-2-propanol was converted to its potassium salt for the coupling reaction, which produced two isomers, the 3-isomer (62) and the 2-isomer (63) in 70:30 ratio after reverse phase chromatography. Cobyric acid was converted to the mixed anhydride for final coupling with nucleotide loop. The semisynthesis/partial synthesis of B3-deazacobalamin (vitamin  $B_{12}$  derivatives, Fig. 1) can also be achieved from 5,6-dimethylindoline α-ribonucleoside (Scheme 13). The  $\alpha$ -indoline nucleoside was converted to the indole ribonucleoside using  $MnO_2$  in presence of type 4 Å molecular sieves. Subsequent deprotection of the ribonucleoside and phosphorylation were easily completed by the procedures given in Scheme 13. Further synthesis of the nucleotide loop is in progress.

**3.1.3. Indoline**  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides. We reported<sup>12</sup> the first synthesis of the  $\alpha$ -indoline ribonucleosides of 5,6-dimethylindoline, indoline, and 5-bromoindoline using 2-fluoro-1methylpyridinium *p*-toluenesulfonate as a condensing reagent (Scheme 14). These glycosylation reactions produce the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides exclusively without any  $\beta$ -nucleoside. Scheme 14 shows the synthetic route for the protected



**Scheme 14.** Reagents and conditions: (i) stannus chloride, HCl, reflux, 8 h; (ii) formic acid (80%), reflux; (iii) potassium metal, *tert*-butanol, reflux/ thermal cyclization, 270–280 °C; (iv) sodium cyanoborohydride/AcOH; (v) butyllithium/trimethylsilyl chloride, -70 °C; (vi) 2-fluoromethylpyridinium tosylate, *N*,*N*'-diisopropylethylamine, methylene chloride, 0 °C.

indolines and their coupling to protected D-ribofuranose to form the  $\alpha$ -indoline ribonucleosides. The dimethyl indole base, 71, was synthesized in fairly good yield by a literature method<sup>66</sup> starting from the readily available 5-nitropseudocumene, 67.67 5-Nitropseudocumene was reduced to 2,4,5trimethylaniline, 68, which was then converted to the formamide in 90% yield by refluxing in formic acid and the formamide was cyclized to the indole, 71, in fairly good yield. The dimethylindole was converted to the dimethylindoline, 74, in 90% yield using sodium cyanoborohydride in acetic acid at ambient temperature.<sup>68</sup> For the glycosylation reaction, the free base was protected with trimethylsilyl chloride.<sup>69</sup> 5.6-Dimethyl-1-trimethylsilanyl-2,3-dihydro-1H-indole, 77, was prepared in 98% yield from dimethylindoline at -70 °C. Similarly, the TMSbromoindoline, 78, was prepared in 95% yield from the corresponding 5-bromoindoline base.

The silylated dimethylindoline bases were reacted with the anomeric mixture of the protected sugar 2,3-*O*-(1-methylethylidene)-5-*O*-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose, **25** (a mixture of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -anomer), using 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium *p*-toluenesulfonate as a condensing agent to produce the desired ribonucleosides in excellent yields. For this coupling reaction, 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium *p*-toluenesulfonate and the sugar were stirred in methylene chloride under basic condition, using *N*,*N*-diisopropylethylamine as a base, for 2–3 h at -30 °C and the silylated indoline was added to the reaction mixture at -10 °C in dry methylene chloride under an argon atmosphere.

These glycosylation reactions proceed smoothly and were easily monitored using NMR. These reactions were found to be highly regioselective and crude reaction mixtures showed exclusively  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides with no trace of  $\beta$ -nucleosides by NMR. After standard workup, the indoline  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were easily purified by stirring in hexane at room temperature without any further column purification. The structure and anomeric configurations of these indoline  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were determined by NMR and X-ray crystal diffraction studies.<sup>12</sup>

# 3.2. α-Indoline ribonucleosides by direct glycosylation

The indoline  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides, **79–81**, were also prepared<sup>11</sup> from unprotected indolines, **73–75**, by coupling to the protected ribose 2,3-*O*-(1-methylethylidene)-5-*O*-(triphenyl-methyl)-D-ribofuranose, **25**, in dry ethanol/methylene chloride, in the presence of type 4 Å molecular sieves. These glycosylation reactions also produce exclusively the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides in 55–70% yield without using any catalyst

(Scheme 15). The coupling reactions of the free bases and the protected sugar were carried out under a dry and inert atmosphere using either dry ethanol or methylene chloride. A dry solution of 2,3-*O*-(1-methylethylidene)-5-*O*-(triphenylmethyl)-D-ribofuranose in ethanol was added directly to dimethylindoline and 4 Å molecular sieves at room temperature and the mixture was heated for 5–6 h under an argon atmosphere while the reaction progress was monitored by TLC and NMR (Scheme 15). The reaction proceeded smoothly and after completion the mixture was cooled to room temperature, filtered, and thoroughly washed with ethanol. Using methylene chloride as a solvent, the observed yield was higher and there was no decomposition of the



Scheme 15. Reagents and conditions: (i) molecular sieves, ethanol/methylene chloride, 40–60 °C, 4–6 h.

**Table 4.** Reaction conditions and yields of glycosylation of different baseswith $2,3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)-D-\alpha,\beta-ribofuranose$ 



<sup>a</sup> Isolated yields.

sugar, while using ethanol as a solvent resulted in a sluggish reaction and decomposition of 2,3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)-D-ribofuranose at higher temperature. The reaction mixture showed only one isomer by NMR after workup. The reaction of dimethylindoline and 2,3-O-(1-methylethylidene)-5-O-(triphenylmethyl)-D-ribofuranose proceeds faster (Table 4) than the reaction with the other indoline bases. 5-Bromoindoline is less reactive and the longer heating time results in lower yields of the corresponding  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside.

The identity and  $\alpha$ -configuration of these ribonucleosides were confirmed based on the corresponding  $\alpha$ -indoline ribonucleosides, which were prepared by the 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate method and fully characterized by X-ray and 2D NMR spectroscopy.<sup>12</sup> The structure of these indoline ribonucleosides prepared by direct glycosylation was also confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C, and <sup>2</sup>D NMR (COSY, HMQC, and NOESY). The signals for the methyl protons of the isopropylidene in 80 were present at  $\delta$  1.38 and 1.60 ppm and the anomeric proton signal was visible at  $\delta$  5.44 ppm (Table 5), the same as that reported for the indoline ribonucleosides<sup>8</sup> prepared by the 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate method. The indoline methylene protons in the dimethylindoline ribonucleoside, 80, showed a strong NOE with one of the isopropylidene methyls, which further supports the  $\alpha$ -anomeric configuration. For further use as a precursor for B3-deazacobalamins (Fig. 1), these indoline ribonucleosides were converted to the corresponding indole ribonucleosides and all spectroscopic data were compared with the  $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides, which were prepared using 2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium *p*-toluenesulfonate method.<sup>14</sup>

## 3.3. Stannic chloride catalyzed glycosylation

An unusual product, 1-(2,3,5-tri-*O*-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -D-ribofuranosyl)-2-nitroimidazole (Scheme 16), was isolated during the synthesis of 1-( $\beta$ -D-ribofuranosyl)-2-nitroimidazole, by Moffatt and co-workers.<sup>50</sup> Condensation of 1-*O*-acetyl-2,3,5tri-*O*-benzoyl-D-ribofuranose, **82**, with 2-nitroimidazole, **83**, in the presence of stannic chloride or mercuric cyanide produces 61% of the 2-nitroimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside, **85**.<sup>50</sup>

**Table 5.** <sup>1</sup>H/<sup>13</sup>C NMR comparison of indoline ribonucleosides prepared by direct glycosylation<sup>b</sup>/2-fluoro-1-methylpyridinium tosylate<sup>a</sup> method (chemical shifts, ribose protons,  $\delta$  in ppm)



S. No.	Compound (ribonucleosides)	Me <sub>1</sub>	Me <sub>2</sub>	5′	5″	4′	3'	2'	1′
1	Indoline <sup>a</sup> ( <sup>1</sup> H NMR)	1.39	1.61	3.28	3.35	4.19	4.72	4.85	5.455
2	Indoline <sup>b</sup>	1.38	1.59	3.28	3.35	4.17	4.69	4.84	5.44
3	Indoline <sup>a</sup> ( <sup>13</sup> C NMR)	25.56	27.48	63.89		82.00	80.67	81.49	92.83
4	Indoline <sup>b</sup>	25.57	27.49	63.92		82.03	80.72	81.52	92.89
5	Dimethylindoline <sup>a</sup> ( <sup>1</sup> H NMR)	1.38	1.60	3.26	3.32	4.19	4.64	4.80	5.41
6	Dimethylindoline <sup>b</sup>	1.39	1.62	3.29	3.33	4.21	4.67	4.83	5.43
7	Dimethylindoline <sup>a</sup> ( <sup>13</sup> C)	25.56	27.51	64.02		81.93	80.91	81.58	93.20
8	Dimethylindoline <sup>b</sup>	25.58	27.51	64.05		81.94	80.92	81.58	93.22
9	5-Bromoindoline <sup>a</sup>	1.38	1.60	3.24	3.41	4.14	4.64	4.77	5.32
10	5-Bromoindoline <sup>b</sup>	1.38	1.60	3.28	3.36	4.18	4.69	4.81	5.36

<sup>a</sup> Reported <sup>1</sup>H NMR values in ( $\delta$  in ppm).

<sup>b</sup> Prepared by direct glycosylation.

The predominant nucleoside in the reaction described should have the  $\beta$ -anomeric configuration due to participation by the 2'-O-benzoyl group, but the isolated product was, in fact, 1-(2,3,5-tri-O-benzoyl- $\alpha$ -D-ribofuranosyl)-2-nitroimid-azole rather than the expected  $\beta$ -anomer.

# **3.4.** Triflate method: synthesis of pyrimidine α-ribonucleoside

The synthesis of the pyrimidine  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides of thymine, uracil, and cytosine has also been reported.<sup>51</sup> Condensation of TMS-protected pyrimidine bases, **86** and **87**, with 2,3-*O*-isopropylidene-1,5-di-*O*-*p*-toluoyl- $\beta$ -D-ribofuranose, **88**, in 1,2-dichloroethane in the presence of trimethyl-silyl triflate produces the desired ribonucleosides in fairly good yields (Scheme 17). This glycosylation method

produces mixtures of  $\alpha/\beta$ -ribonucleosides of pyrimidines ranging from 9:1 to 6:1 ratio. However, only the protected thymine  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside, **90**, was isolated in pure form (in 65% yield) by crystallization from the  $\alpha/\beta$  mixture. The  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides of cytosine and uracil were purified only after removal of toluoyl group. Only, 10–15%  $\beta$ -anomer was observed in crude mixtures by <sup>1</sup>H NMR. For purification purposes, the uracil and cytosine  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were deprotected at 5'-position in order to separate the corresponding nucleosides from their  $\beta$ -counterparts and were isolated in 63 and 30%, respectively.

 $\alpha$ -Fluorouridine derivative, **98** (Scheme 18), has been also prepared using trimethylsilyl triflate in good yield.<sup>52</sup> Condensation of trimethylsilylated 5-fluorouracil with methyl 5-deoxy-2',3'-O-isopropylidene-D-ribose in the presence of



Scheme 16. Reagents and conditions: (i) stannic chloride/mercuric cyanide, 61%; (ii) hydrolysis.



Scheme 17. Reagents and conditions: (i) trimethylsilyl triflate, dichloroethane, reflux, 2 h; (ii) sodium methoxide, methanol, 30 min.



Scheme 18. Reagents and conditions: (i) trimethylsilyl triflate, methylene chloride, 15-20 h; (ii) TFA, rt.

trimethylsilyl triflate in methylene chloride at ambient temperature gave the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside as a major product (Scheme 18). Catalytic removal of methoxy group at 1'-position produces the carbocation, which upon reaction with silylated fluorouracil in the absence of the neighboring group effect from the favored bottom side of the pentafuranoside leads to  $\alpha$ -uracil nucleoside.

#### 3.5. $\alpha$ -Indoline to $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides

A variety of  $\alpha$ -indole nucleosides can be prepared from  $\alpha$ -indoline nucleosides in excellent yield at moderate temperature using manganese dioxide and molecular sieves in benzene or methylene chloride.<sup>14</sup> For the semisynthesis of cobalamins<sup>1</sup> (B3-deazacobalamin, Fig. 1), it is necessary to convert the indoline ribonucleoside to indole nucleoside for further manipulations under mild conditions. There are few reports on the dehydrogenation of the related β-indoline nucleosides to the corresponding  $\beta$ -indole nucleosides. Preobrazhenskaya<sup>70</sup> reported the dehydrogenation of 1-(2,3,5-O-tri-O-benzoyl-β-D-ribofuranosyl)indoline to the corresponding indole nucleoside using manganese dioxide in benzene at reflux for 15 h. However, the  $\alpha$ -nucleosides are thermodynamically unstable and may isomerize to the corresponding β-nucleosides. Consequently, harsh reaction conditions for the dehydrogenation of the  $\alpha$ -indoline nucleosides are problematic. The desired  $\alpha$ -nucleosides do not survive in these drastic conditions and undergo polymerization. Dehydrogenation by 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone  $(DDQ)^{71}$  does not give the desired nucleosides but gives charred products instead. In view of the above, we have developed a mild, high vield dehvdrogenation method (Scheme 19) for these unstable  $\alpha$ -indoline nucleosides using different solvents and molecular sieves. To compare the reactivity of these  $\alpha$ -nucleosides, the indole and dimethylindoline bases were also dehydrogenated under similar condition and produced the indoles in similar yields (Scheme 19).



Scheme 19. Reagents and conditions: (i) MnO<sub>2</sub>, molecular sieves, benzene, 40–50 °C/MnO<sub>2</sub>, molecular sieves, methylene chloride, 30–40 °C.

1-(5-O-Triphenylmethyl-2,3-O-isopropylidene-a-D-ribofuranosyl)indoline, 79, was dehydrogenated in either benzene or methylene chloride using  $MnO_2$  in presence of type 4 Å molecular sieves. The reaction, which was monitored by TLC and NMR, proceeds rapidly and without decomposition or isomerization of the starting material. Dehydrogenation of dimethylindoline, 80, and indoline nucleosides is complete within 1 h in benzene at 40-50 °C whereas the 5-bromoindoline, 81, takes 1.5–3.0 h (Table 6). After completion, the reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature and filtered through Celite, and after the usual workup, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure. The NMR spectrum showed no organic impurities. The crude product was simply passed through a small silica gel column to remove the inorganic impurities. The reaction was repeated in methylene chloride at 30-40 °C using MnO<sub>2</sub> and molecular sieves and proceeded smoothly without any decomposition, in 95% yield (dimethylindoline). The reaction, however, proceeds much faster (1-1.5 h) in benzene than in methylene chloride. Without molecular sieves, the reaction was sluggish and required higher temperature and more time. The structures of the indole nucleosides were confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, high-resolution mass spectroscopy, and 2D NMR (COSY and NOESY).

# 3.6. TMSOTf-mediated epimerization ( $\beta$ -thymidine to $\alpha$ -thymidine)

The reaction of protected thymidine with trimethylsilyl triflate affords  $\alpha$ -thymidine **107**<sup>72a</sup> which is a key intermediate for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -DNA<sup>72b-g</sup> in 50% overall yields. The reaction of protected thymidine with trimethylsilyl triflate affords  $\alpha$ -thymidine, **107** in 50% overall yields. Thymidine protected with triphenyl acetyl at 5' and a toluoyl group at 2' undergoes  $\alpha/\beta$ -epimerization to give a 91:1 ratio of  $\alpha$  to  $\beta$ -anomer (Scheme 20). The  $\alpha/\beta$  ratio in epimerization reactions depends on the steric effect of the 5'-O-protecting group and the electronic effect of the 3' protecting group.

# 3.7. Boron trichloride complex method

Furukawa and co-workers used the BCl<sub>3</sub> complex of ribose **111** to prepare  $\alpha$ -adenosine<sup>48</sup> **112** (Scheme 21). Octanoyladenine and the sugar were heated for 3 h in the presence of pyridine in chloroform. Increasing the amount of pyridine as an acid acceptor increases the yield of the product from 36 to 55%. Protected nucleosides were easily deprotected with sodium methoxide and subsequently purified on a Dowex column.

Table 6. Comparison of dehydrogenation of protected nucleoside by using benzene/methylene chloride in presence of MnO<sub>2</sub> and molecular sieves

S. No.	Reactant	Solvent	Rexn temp (°C)	Time (h)	Yield <sup>a</sup> (%)	
1	Indoline nucleoside	Benzene	40-50	1–1.5	90	
2	Dimethylindoline nucleoside	Benzene	40-50	1-1.5	94	
3	Br-indoline nucleoside	Benzene	40-50	1.5-3.0	90	
4	Indoline nucleoside	Methylene chloride	30-40	2-3	92	
5	Dimethylindoline nucleoside	Methylene chloride	30-40	2-3	95	
6	Br-indoline nucleoside	Methylene chloride	30-40	2-3	86	
7	Indoline base	Benzene	40-50	1-2	90	
8	Dimethylindoline base	Benzene	40–50	1–2	91	

<sup>a</sup> Isolated yields.



Scheme 20.



Scheme 21. Reagents and conditions: (i) pyridine, chloroform, reflux, 3 h; (ii) sodium methoxide.

# **3.8.** Enzymatic separation of $\alpha/\beta$ -nucleosides

Quite recently, the enzyme lipase was used to separate mixtures of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -deoxyribonucleoside through acylation or hydrolysis.<sup>73</sup> This method was successfully used to separate a mixture of protected  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -thymidine in good yields (Scheme 22). The authors used protected thymidine from industrial waste, which contains an 80:20 mixture of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -protected thymidine. *Pseudomonas cepacia* (PSL-C) showed excellent regioselectivity for the hydrolysis of 5'*p*-chlorobenzoate in the case of  $\alpha$ -thymidine, while it was inactive with  $\beta$ -thymidine. After hydrolysis of thymidine, the mixture can be easily separated from  $\beta$ -protected thymidine.

#### **4.** Deprotection of α-ribonucleosides

Deprotecting these fragile  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides while retaining the  $\alpha$ -configuration is crucial. Trityl (Tr), dimethoxytrityl (DMTr), and isopropylidene groups are commonly used for



Scheme 22. Reagents and conditions: (i) lipase, dioxane, 0.15 M phosphate buffer, 164 h, 60 °C.

the protection of the 5-hydroxyl and 2,3-hydroxyl groups in both carbohydrate and nucleoside chemistries.<sup>74</sup> For  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides, protection of the 2'-, 3'-, and 5'-position is required for selectivity in the glycosylation reaction. These protecting groups are generally hydrolyzed under harsh conditions using strong protic and/or Lewis acids. Hydrochloric acid,<sup>75</sup> formic acid,<sup>76</sup> and trifluoroacetic acid (TFA)<sup>77</sup> are typically used for the deprotection of isopropylidene and trityl groups. Under these conditions, ribonucleosides with the  $\alpha$ -anomeric configuration may undergo deglycosylation. Although  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides with dimethylbenzimidazole, benzimidazole, and imidazole bases survive these harsh reaction conditions, dimethylindole, indole, and other a-ribonucleosides when treated with neat TFA undergo deglycosylation, making it difficult to deprotect these ribonucleosides. In addition, strong protic acids such as TFA, HCl, and others are typically not selective under aqueous conditions and cause the cleavage of the other acid labile groups. Since insertion of an altered axial nucleoside into the cobalamin structure requires protection of the 5'-hydroxyl, chemoselective deprotection at the 2',3'-positions would be highly desirable. We have described the selective deprotection of trityl and isopropylidene groups using different acids in organic solvents.<sup>8</sup>

Upon treatment with formic acid/ether (2:3) at room temperature (Scheme 23) the indole ribonucleosides afforded the 2'.3'-deprotected indole ribonucleosides (**117–119**) in fairly good yield, without affecting the trityl group. In contrast, the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides of dimethylindole, indole, and 5bromoindole, on treatment with aqueous acetic acid at 50–60 °C, afforded the corresponding 5'-deprotected α-ribonucleosides (120–122) without affecting the isopropylidene group. While it is known that  $(2',3'-O-isopropylidene-\beta-D-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropylidene-b-isopropyl$ ribofuranosyl)-2,5,6-trichloroindole and other halogenated indole ribonucleosides produce 2',3'-deprotected indole ribonucleosides upon prolonged heating with acetic acid and water (4:1), for the  $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides, we did not observe any 2',3'-deprotected products. Instead, prolonged heating of these  $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides in acetic acid produced a charred product. Similarly, the isopropylidene group can be removed from the same substrates using 1% TFA in methylene chloride without affecting the trityl group.



Scheme 23. Reagents and conditions: (i) ether/formic acid (2:3), rt, 3–4 h; (ii) aqueous AcOH, 50–60 °C, 4–5 h.

1-(5-*O*-Triphenylmethyl-2,3-*O*-isopropylidene- $\alpha$ -D-ribofuranosyl)imidazole, -benzimidazole, -5-bromoimidazole, and -5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole ribonucleosides, however, react differently (Scheme 24). Here the trityl group can be easily removed by treating the protected ribonucleoside with formic acid/ether, heating with aqueous acetic acid,<sup>8</sup> or using 1% TFA in methylene chloride without affecting the isopropylidene. However, these  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were easily deprotected at the 5'- and 2',3'-positions without any deglycosylation using a mixture of TFA/H<sub>2</sub>O (1:1) at ambient temperature.



Scheme 24. Reagents and conditions: (i) ether/formic acid (2:3), rt, 3–4 h, or 1% TFA, methylene chloride, rt, 30 min or aqueous AcOH (80:20), 50–60°C; (ii) 50% TFA/water.

# 4.1. Deprotection of $\alpha$ -imidazole/benzimidazole ribonucleosides by catalytic carbon tetrabromide initiated photolysis

While trityl and dimethoxytrityl ethers are selectively deprotected to the corresponding alcohols by CBr<sub>4</sub> in methanol at reflux under neutral reaction conditions,<sup>77</sup> at these temperatures, imidazole ribonucleosides isomerize from the  $\alpha$ -anomer to the  $\beta$ -anomer. We have developed a mild and highly efficient deprotection of trityl and isopropylidene protecting groups without any deglycosylation or anomerization, in high yield, using sub-stoichiometric amounts of carbon tetrabromide.  $\alpha$ -Ribonucleosides of imidazole and benzimidazole can be readily deprotected by photoirradiation using catalytic carbon tetrabromide (CBr<sub>4</sub>) in methanol at ambient temperature. Although selective deprotection of trityl versus isopropylidene groups of  $\beta$ -ribonucleosides and sugars has been achieved using photolysis,<sup>81</sup> our photolysis protocol shows no selectivity in trityl/isopropylidene deprotection for the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides.

The photolysis reactions were carried out in glass vials using a high pressure Xe–Hg photolysis lamp (254 nm principal wavelength) for 30 min<sup>-1</sup>0 h at ambient temperature (Scheme 25). Complete conversion of the starting material was confirmed by TLC (methanol/methylene chloride 8:2) as well as by <sup>1</sup>H NMR. Increasing the amount of carbon tetrabromide from 0.05 to 0.5 equiv not only decreased the reaction time but also decreased the observed yield (Table 7).  $\beta$ -Ribonucleosides of benzimidazole, dimethylbenzimidazole, and 2,3-*O*-(1-methylethylidene)-5-*O*-(triphenylmethyl)- $\alpha/\beta$ -D-ribofuranose were also deprotected under similar conditions in yields of 80, 85, and 80%, respectively.



Scheme 25. Reagents and conditions: (i) methanol, carbon tetrabromide, 20 °C, photolysis.

In contrast, deprotection of the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides of imidazole and 5-bromoimidazole with excess carbon tetrabromide (1–3 equiv) at reflux in methanol produced mixtures of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -anomer (Table 8). These reactions take 5–6 h for complete removal of trityl and isopropylidene groups. With less carbon tetrabromide the reaction is very sluggish and complete deprotection takes 10–12 h. However, in the case of the benzimidazole and 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides, we observed only 5% anomerization under reflux

Table 7. Photolysis reaction conditions and yields



5. NO.	Reactant (B)	$CBr_4$	Reaction time	rield (%)
1	α-Benzimidazole	0.05	1.0 h	95
2	α-Benzimidazole <sup>19</sup>	0.5	20 min	75-80
3	α-5,6-DMBz <sup>c</sup>	0.05	1.0 h	98
4	α-5,6-DMBz <sup>c</sup>	0.5	10-20 min	75
5	α-Imidazole	0.05	50 min	86
6	α-5-Bromoimidazole	0.05	1.0 h	90
7	β-Benzimidazole	0.05	1.0 h	85
8	β-5,6-DMBz <sup>c</sup>	0.05	1.0 h	85

<sup>a</sup> Equivalent of CBr<sub>4</sub>.

C

<sup>b</sup> Isolated yields.

<sup>c</sup> 5,6-DMBz = 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole.

 Table 8. Reaction conditions and yields under reflux conditions in methanol and carbon tetrabromide

TrC	$O$ $H$ $CBr_4, m$ $O$ $B$ $CBr_4, m$ $H_3C$ $CH_3$	temp	I HO√ → H	О Н О ОН +	но он
S. No.	Reactant (B)	CBr <sub>4</sub> <sup>a</sup>	Reaction time (h)	Yield <sup>b</sup> of α-anomer (%)	Yield <sup>b</sup> of $\beta$ -anomer (%)
1	α-Benzimidazole	1_2	5-6	95	0
2	α-Benzimidazole	0.5	10-12	85	5
3	$\alpha$ -5.6-DMBz <sup>c</sup>	2	5-6	75	0
4	$\alpha$ -5.6-DMBz <sup>c</sup>	0.5	10-12	70-80	5
5	α-Imidazole	2	4-5	60-70	30
6	$\alpha$ -5-Bromoimidazole	3	4–5	80	20

<sup>a</sup> Equivalent of CBr<sub>4</sub>.

<sup>b</sup> NMR yields.

conditions, possibly due to the more bulky bases compared to the imidazole and 5-bromoimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides.

# 5. NMR and X-ray structures of $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides

# 5.1. Structure of α-ribazole

The anomeric configuration of nucleosides is generally determined by <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopies. Due to the inclusion of  $\alpha$ -ribazole in B<sub>12</sub>, several NMR studies have appeared.<sup>78</sup> The structure of vitamin B<sub>12</sub> and its analogs has been extensively studied by NMR and X-ray crystallography. The  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside in B<sub>12</sub> shows notable changes in the NMR chemical shift at the ribose 1'-position and the base 2'-position (imidazole) due to steric effects and the anisotropic effect of cobalt (Table 9). The anomeric proton of ribazole coordinated to cobalt in B<sub>12</sub> is shifted slightly downfield compared to free ribazole, and a similar trend is seen for the anomeric carbon. Regarding the second factor, extensive NMR and structural studies of cobaloxime model

Table 9. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C chemical shifts for included ribazole and free ribazole



	A (Vitamin B <sub>1</sub>	2)	<b>B</b> (	α-Ribazole	e)
Atom	$\delta^1 H$	$\delta^{13}C$	$\delta^1 H$	⊿ Hz	$\varDelta$ <sup>13</sup> C
B2	7.10				
B4	6.51	145.67	7.50		121.29
B7	7.28	119.3	7.37		135.23
B10	2.27	114.3	2.35		22.20
B11	2.26	22.20	2.34		21.91
R1	6.36	21.91	6.33	4.00	88.89
R2	4.28	89.8	4.55	4.40	74.17
R3	4.73	71.7	4.43	7.20	73.07
R4	4.40	75.9	4.36	4.30	85.85
R5	3.93/3.75	84.9 63.3	3.77/3.92		63.67



Figure 7. From top lower field region <sup>1</sup>H NMR of B<sub>12</sub>, CN(Im)Cbl, mix of CN(4/5-Br-Im)Cbl, CN(4-Br-Im)Cbl, and CN(5-Br-Im)Cbl.

complexes by Marzilli and co-workers<sup>79</sup> have found that the cobalt atom magnetic anisotropy has a significant effect on the chemical shifts of nearby atoms in base-on cobalamins. Brown and Hakimi studied the magnetic anisotropy of a series of base-on cobalamins and observed a significant trend in <sup>13</sup>C NMR chemical shifts of the carbon atoms of the nucleotide loop.<sup>80</sup> These studies also suggest that changes in the upper axial ligand will have a much larger effect on the magnetic anisotropy of the cobalt atom than changes in the lower axial Co-N bond distance and that distortions of the equatorial ligand (due to bulky upper axial ligand) also significantly affect cobalt magnetic anisotropy. In B<sub>12</sub>, the ribose 3'-proton and carbon chemical shifts of the  $\alpha$ -ribazole moiety are altered in the <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR, because the ribose C3 is directly attached to phosphodiester linkage. In vitamin B<sub>12</sub>, the R-3 (ribose 3') proton is 0.4 ppm deshielded compared to the free nucleoside (Fig. 7), and the carbon is also shifted 1.0 ppm downfield compared to free  $\alpha$ -ribazole (Table 9). The CN(Im)Cbl R-3 carbon is shifted 2.6 ppm downfield compared to the free nucleoside<sup>7a</sup> (Table 10).

# 5.2. Imidazole and 5-haloimidazole $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides

The structures of the imidazole and 5-haloimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were established by NMR and X-ray crystallography. The methyl proton chemical shifts and chemical shift separation for the *endo-* and *exo*-methyl groups of the isopropylidene in protected nucleosides have been extensively used to determine the anomeric configuration of nucleosides.<sup>81,82</sup> Imbach<sup>83</sup> suggests that the difference in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR chemical shifts between the two methyl signals of the isopropylidene group,  $\Delta\delta$ , can be used to distinguish between the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -anomers such that  $0.18 < \Delta\delta < 0.23$  for the  $\beta$ -anomers and  $0 < \Delta\delta < 0.10$  for the  $\alpha$ -anomers (Fig. 9,  $\alpha$ -imidazole nucleoside). Coupling constant trends for H1'-H2' are also used to determine the configuration of  $\alpha/\beta$ -ribonucleosides. Generally, the coupling constant for an  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside is higher (Table 11) than that of a  $\beta$ -ribonucleosides ( $\beta$ ,  $J_{1'-2'}=1-3.5$  Hz,  $\alpha$ ,  $J_{1'-2'}=3.5-8.0$  Hz).

From the X-ray crystal structure of 5-fluoroimidazole ribonucleoside (Fig. 8), the anomeric proton and the fluorine atom are separated by 2.386 Å in space. A similar distance Table 10. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR chemical shifts for imidazole cobalamin CN(Im)Cbl included ribonucleoside and free α-imidazole ribonucleoside



Atom		Α			В		
	$\delta^{-1}$ H	⊿ Hz	$\Delta$ <sup>13</sup> C	$\delta^{-1}$ H	⊿ Hz	⊿ <sup>13</sup> C	
B2	6.82		139.2	8.89		136.58	
B4	5.96		128.6	7.63		123.58	
B5	6.97		122.2	7.49		121.75	
B10	_		_				
B11	_		_				
R1	5.97	t, 4.0	91.5	6.24	4.5	91.55	
R2	4.24	t, 3.5, 4.5	72.2	4.64	5.3	88.81	
R3	4.61	dt, 8.4, 8.4,4.5	75.5	4.48		72.90	
R4	3.99		84.7	4.34		74.21	
R5	3.69, 3.86	dd, 2.5, 12.5	62.8	3.79	8.0, 10	63.73	

Table 11.  ${}^{1}H/{}^{13}C$  NMR chemical shifts of ribose sugar for  $\alpha/\beta$ -5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides

S. No.	Compound	1′	$J_{1'-2'}$ Hz	2'	3'	4′	
1	$\alpha$ -5-Fluoroimidazole	6.21/85.9	4.0	4.96/80.2	4.70/82.5	4.42/82.2	
2	$\alpha$ -5-Bromoimidazole	6.49/88.5	4.0	5.0/79.9	4.70/82.0	4.42/82.06	
3	$\alpha$ -5-Iodoimidazole	6.46/90.5	4.5	5.0/79.8	4.72/82.6	4.42/81.9	
4	α-Imidazole	6.20/88.5	4.03	4.92/80.5	4.77/82.4	4.39/82.1	
5	β-5-Bromoimidazole	5.87/91.2	2.8	4.86/85.1	4.74/80.8	4.37/84.6	
6	β-Imidazole	5.76/91.92		4.79/81.27	4.74/85.31	4.38/84.45	

is expected between the anomeric proton and the C-5 proton of imidazole in its  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside, so there is a strong NOE between those protons (Fig. 10 and 11). In the <sup>1</sup>H NMR, a doublet was observed at 6.54 ppm for the imidazole H-4



Figure 8. X-ray structure of  $\alpha$ -5-fluoroimidazole nucleoside 35.

 $({}^{3}J_{\rm HF}$ =6.9 Hz). In the  ${}^{19}$ F NMR, a doublet was observed at -154.6 ppm with J value of 7.5 Hz, while 4(5)-fluoroimidazole itself has a <sup>19</sup>F NMR doublet at -136.6 ppm with J value of 8.0 Hz. For the 5-haloimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides in general, the anomeric protons appeared at 6.2-6.5 ppm (Fig. 9) and the 1'-2' coupling constant was close to 4.0 Hz (Table 11). All protected  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides have an NOE between the isopropylidene methyl protons and the imidazole C-2 proton, but the  $\beta$ -anomer does not have an NOE between these protons (Fig. 13). Examination of these ribonucleosides by high-resolution <sup>1</sup>H NMR (Tables 11 and 12) shows that the 5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides obey Imbach's rule in CDCl<sub>3</sub> and in CD<sub>3</sub>OD. A strong NOE was observed between the H-5 imidazole proton and the anomeric proton in imidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleoside while the 5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides do not have an NOE between these protons (Figs. 14 and 15), which strongly supports the structure of the 5-bromoimidazole and 5-iodoimidazole α-ribonucleosides.

The structure and anomeric configuration of all these  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides were established by 2D NMR spectroscopy (COSY, HMQC and NOESY). All protected  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides have an NOE between the isopropylidene methyl protons and the imidazole proton, whereas the  $\beta$ -anomer does not have an NOE between these protons (Fig. 14). Imbach's rule suggests that  $0.18 < \Delta \delta < 0.23$  for the  $\beta$ -anomers and  $0 < \Delta \delta < 0.10$  for  $\alpha$ -anomers, where  $\Delta \delta$  is the difference in chemical shift between the two methyl groups in the



**Figure 9**. <sup>1</sup>H NMR of  $\alpha$ -imidazole ribonucleoside.

isopropylidene-protected ribonucleosides. For the imidazole and benzimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides.  $\Delta \delta$  falls in the range of 0.011–0.174 ppm, while the  $\beta$ -ribonucleosides fall in the narrow range of 0.234  $\leq \Delta \delta$  0.27 ppm (Fig. 12). The use of different solvents does not influence the applicability of the rule itself (Table 12). The methyl protons of the isopropylidene had an NOE with the imidazole proton in 5'-deprotected  $\alpha$ -benzimidazole ribonucleoside 124 (Scheme 24) but the β-benzimidazole nucleoside does not have an NOE between those protons (2D NOESY). Structural proof for the  $\alpha$ -anomer was also confirmed with the help of NOE difference spectroscopy. Irradiation of the isopropylidene methyl protons of 5'-deprotected benzimidazole ribonucleoside 124 caused a positive 10% NOE enhancement of the imidazole proton, and its precursor 55 (5'-protected ribonucleoside) shows a 12% NOE enhancement upon irradiation of the methyl proton. The signals for the methyl protons of the isopropylidene in the benzimidazole ribonucleoside were visible at  $\delta$  1.279 and 1.382 ppm ( $\Delta\delta$ =0.103). The anomeric proton signal appeared at  $\delta$  6.337 ppm with a J value of 4.5 Hz, which further confirms the  $\alpha$ -configuration of the desired ribonucleosides.

# 5.3. NMR and X-ray structures of indoline and indole α-ribonucleosides

The anomeric protons of the  $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides in NMR appeared at  $\delta$  5.32–5.45 ppm and the 1'–2' coupling constant was 3.8 Hz for each compound. For comparison, the protected  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -ribonucleoside of benzimidazole and 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole had  $J_{1'-2'}=3.8$  Hz for the  $\alpha$ -anomers, but 3.0 or 3.2 Hz for the  $\beta$ -anomers. While literature reports suggest that the anomeric configuration of such nucleosides can be established based on the chemical shift difference of the isopropylidene methyl groups, the indoline ribonucleosides do not follow this rule. Thus, while the benzimidazole  $\alpha$ -ribosides have isopropylidene methyl group chemical shift separations of  $\leq 0.2$  ppm (0.16 and 0.20 ppm) and the  $\beta$ -ribosides have a 0.27 ppm methyl separation, the  $\alpha$ -indoline ribosides have an isopropylidene separation of 0.22 or 0.23 ppm.

The anomeric configuration of the indoline nucleoside, **79**, was confirmed by X-ray crystallography (Fig. 16). Suitable crystals for X-ray diffraction were grown by slow



Figure 10. NOE of 1-(5'-O-triphenylmethyl-2',3'-O-isopropylidene- $\alpha$ -D-ribofuranosyl)imidazole.



Figure 11. Downfield region NOE of  $\alpha$ -imidazole ribonucleoside showing NOE between anomeric proton and C-5 imidazole proton.

crystallization at low temperature in ethyl acetate/hexane (1:1). The indoline moiety is nearly planar, the glycosidic bond length is 1.444 Å, and the glycosidic torsion angle, C(19)–N(1)–C(1)–O(1) is  $-79.9^{\circ}$ , slightly outside the narrow range of  $-30^{\circ}$  to  $-72^{\circ}$  observed for other  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides.

# 5.4. Determination of anomeric configuration by cross-correlated relaxation between $H^{1'}$ chemical shift anisotropy and $H^{1'}-H^{2'}$ dipolar relaxation mechanisms modulated by local motions in ribonucleosides

More recently, we investigated the role of internal motions on  $H^{1'}-H^{2'}$  dipolar and  $H^{1'}$  chemical shift anisotropy (CSA) cross-correlated NMR relaxation measurements on various  $\alpha/\beta$ -ribonucleosides as model compounds, and the use of cross-correlated NMR relaxation as a direct and convenient method to determine the anomeric configuration of ribonucleosides.<sup>10</sup> We observed that the existence of large amplitude internal motions in the ribonucleosides due to glycosidic C–N bond rotation and pseudorotation in the ribose moiety modulate the H<sup>1'</sup>–H<sup>2'</sup> dipolar–CSA (H<sup>1'</sup>) interaction<sup>84–96</sup> in a distinct way, so that nucleosides in the  $\alpha$ -configuration show significant and detectable cross-correlation effects in the proton nuclear spin-lattice relaxation, whereas no such effects can be observed for  $\beta$ -nucleosides. The cross-correlation effects can be observed using the conventional inversion-recovery experiment that is used to measure the



**Figure 12**. <sup>1</sup>H NMR of  $\beta$ -imidazole ribonucleoside.



Figure 13. NOE of 1-(5'-O-triphenylmethyl-2',3'-O-isopropylidene-β-D-ribofuranosyl)-5-bromoimidazole.

Table 12. Methyl proton separation ( $\Delta$  in ppm) for  $\alpha/\beta$ -imidazole/benzimidazole ribonucleosides



spin-lattice relaxation time, but with a small flip angle mixing pulse since with the 90° mixing pulse used in the conventional experiment, two spin-order is converted into multiple quantum coherence and cannot be observed. The difference between the intensities of the doublet components is directly related to the cross-correlation rate  $(\Delta_{1',1'-2'})$  by which the two spin-order is created due to the  $H^{1'}$  CSA and  $H_{1'}-H_{2'}$ dipolar relaxation mechanisms. The spectra showing the relaxation behavior at different mixing times in the inversion-recovery experiment for the H1' proton doublet of the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -dimethylbenzimidazole are shown in Figure 17. The amount of the  $H_z^{1'}H_z^{2'}$  created due to dipole–CSA cross-correlations between  $H^{1'}-H^{2'}$  and  $H^{1'}$  CSA is given in (Table 13). The  $H_{z0}^{1'}$ , the equilibrium magnetization of  $H^{1'}$  spin, is calculated as the sum of the intensities of the  $H^{1'}$  doublet and the two spin-order is normalized with respect to it. The values of the normalized two spin-order clearly show that there is no effect of dipole-CSA crosscorrelations on the ribonucleosides in the  $\beta$ -anomeric configuration.



Figure 14. NOEs of  $\alpha/\beta$ -5-haloimidazole ribonucleosides.



Figure 15. Downfield region NOE of  $1-(5'-O-\text{triphenylmethyl}-2',3'-O-\text{isopropylidene-}\alpha-D-\text{ribofuranosyl})-5-fluoroimidazole.$ 

The internuclear distance for the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -anomer of similar ribonucleosides is known from their X-ray structures and the estimated ratio of  $(d_{1'2'})^{\alpha}/(d_{1'2'})^{\beta}$  is 2.83 providing one of the reasons why cross-correlation effects are seen to be stronger for *a*-ribonucleosides. However, the dipole-CSA crosscorrelation rate also depends on the magnitude and the orientation of the  $H^{1'}$  CSA tensor. But the orientation of the tensor largely depends on the geometry of the molecule, and the crystal structure for similar ribonucleosides suggests that it may be close to the magic angle for the  $\beta$ -anomer, which also makes the dipole-CSA cross-correlation smaller. It is known that the sugar moieties in nucleosides are involved in a dynamically interconverting two state conformational equilibrium, C(2')-exo and C(3')-endo (N type) and C(2')-endo and C(3')-exo (S type), which occurs in the nanosecond time scale at room temperature.<sup>97</sup> Also, C-N glycosidic bond rotation is known to occur in the nanosecond time scale.98 We performed the inversion-recovery experiments



Figure 16. ORTEP diagram of compound  $\alpha$ -indoline ribonucleoside 79.



**Figure 17.** <sup>1</sup>H inversion-recovery spectra of the mixture of **6** and **6b** (80 and 20%) for different mixing times. The  $H^{1'}$  differential recovery for the  $\alpha$ -anomer indicates the presence of dipole–CSA cross-correlations whereas the  $\beta$ -anomeric proton doublet shows no such effect.  $H^{1'}$  chemical shift and  $J_{H1'-H2'}$  values of **6** and **6b** are 6.48 ppm, 4.95 Hz and 6.13 ppm, 4.24 Hz, respectively. Experiments were done on an INOVA 500 MHz Varian NMR spectrometer at 298 K. The sample was dissolved in deuterated CD<sub>3</sub>OD.

on the  $\alpha$ -benzimidazole ribonucleoside in 30% glycerol, which led us to the conclusion that  ${}^{1}\text{H}{-}{}^{1}\text{H}$  dipolar and  ${}^{1}\text{H}$ CSA cross-correlated relaxation rates are dominated by these two large amplitude internal motions rather than the

Table 13. Normalized proton–proton two spin-order values for the  $\alpha\text{-}$  and  $\beta\text{-ribonucleoside}$ 

Ribonucleosides	Anomeric configuration	$(H_z^{l'}H_z^{2'})/(H_{z0}^{l'})\times 100$
α-Benzimidazole	α	9.3
β-Benzimidazole	β	None
$\alpha$ -Dimethylbenzimidazole ( <b>6a</b> )	α	7.06
$\beta$ -Dimethylbenzimidazole ( <b>6b</b> )	β	None
α-Imidazole	α	5.89
β-Imidazole	β	None

overall molecular motion and therefore contribute significantly to longitudinal cross-correlation rates for α-ribonucleosides but not for β-ribonucleosides, where such motions may be lesser in magnitude. It is important to note that longitudinal cross-correlations are more sensitive to faster molecular motions due to the fact that they affect only the single quantum transition probabilities (in the case of weakly coupled spin systems). Therefore, it may be argued that  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides are less rigid in comparison to their  $\beta$ -anomeric counterparts where we do not see any cross-correlation effects. It is known that contributions from polypeptide backbone fluctuations to the conformational entropy and heat capacity of globular proteins result in higher thermal stability of these proteins. In a similar fashion, the internal motions present in the  $\alpha$ -ribose moiety could contribute to the conformational entropy/heat capacity of the rarely found  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides both in their free form and in the structure of vitamin B<sub>12</sub> and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, thus enhancing their structural and thermodynamic conformational stabilities. Ab initio and quantum chemical studies to investigate the H1' CSA dependence on the sugar pucker and glycosidic bond rotation, solid state NMR studies to estimate the <sup>1</sup>H CSA tensor components, and more relaxation studies using anisotropic motional models would be needed to substantiate the exact reasons for our experimental observations.

## 6. Conclusions

Vitamin  $B_{12}$  and its co-enzyme analogs contain a ribonucleoside lower axial ligand in the biologically unusual  $\alpha$ -configuration as part of corrin ring appendage called the nucleotide loop. In order to determine if this axial ligand is involved in the enzymatic functioning of the B<sub>12</sub> coenzyme, 5-deoxyadenosylcobalamin, we have pursued analogs in which the axial ligand is structurally altered. These include imidazole and substituted imidazole  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides, which permit the determination of the effect of axial nucleotide steric bulk and basicity on the co-enzymatic function of co-enzyme  $B_{12}$ , as well as  $\alpha$ -indole nucleosides, which can be used to test the importance of a coordinated axial nitrogen in the B<sub>12</sub> dependent enzymatic reactions. While  $B_{12}$  analogs with altered axial nucleotides can be obtained by 'guided biosynthesis', using fermentation of P. shermanii on media supplemented with the desired axial base, the scope of this method is limited in that some imidazole and benzimidazole analogs are incorporated poorly, and indoles are not incorporated at all, evidently due to their lack of activity with the necessary ribosyltransferase enzyme, which catalyzes the formation of N-glycosidic bond. Such derivatives are best prepared by semisynthesis, coupling cobyric acid mixed anhydride with the 3-phosphodiester of the desired ribonucleoside with (R)-(-)-1-amino-2-propanol (Scheme 1). Consequently, the preparation of such cobalamin analogs requires robust methods for the synthesis of α-ribonucleosides. As most naturally occurring ribonucleosides have the  $\beta$ -anomeric configuration, most of the synthetic effort to date has been targeted at the creation of the  $\beta$ -N-glycosidic bond. Here, we have explored the utility, scope, and permutations of existing and new methods of N-glycosidic bond formation and for the protection and deprotection of the  $\alpha$ -ribonucleosides to enable the semisynthesis of a wide variety of  $B_{12}$  analogs with altered axial nucleoside ligands.

#### **References and notes**

- (a) Brown, K. L. *Chem. Rev.* 2005, *105*, 2075–2149; (b) Brown,
   K. L. *Dalton Trans.* 2006, 1123–1133; (c) Hamza, M. S. A.;
   Zou, X.; Banka, R.; Brown, K. L.; van Eldik, R. *Dalton Trans.* 2005, *4*, 782–787.
- (a) Brown, K. L.; Li, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 9466– 9474; (b) Brown, K. L.; Cheng, S.; Zou, X.; Li, J.; Chen, G.; Valente, E. J.; Zubkowski, J. D.; Marques, H. M. Biochemistry 1998, 37, 9704–9715.
- Booker, S.; Stubbe, J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1993, 90, 8352–8356.
- Babior, B. M.; Carty, T. J.; Abeles, R. H. J. Biol. Chem. 1974, 249, 1689–1695.
- 5. Marsh, E.; Neil, G. Bioorg. Chem. 2000, 28, 176-189.
- Hodgkin, D. C.; Kamper, J.; Mackay, M.; Pickworth, J. *Nature* 1956, 178, 64–66.
- (a) Kräutler, B.; Konrat, R.; Stupperich, E.; Färber, G.; Gruber, K.; Kratky, C. *Inorg. Chem.* **1994**, *33*, 4128–4139; (b) Fasching, M.; Schmidt, W.; Kräutler, B.; Stupperich, E.; Schmidt, A.; Kratky, C. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2000**, *83*, 2295; (c) Randaccio, L.; Furlan, M.; Geremia, S.; Slouf, M.; Srnova, I.; Toffoli, D. *Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *39*, 3403–3413; (d) Renz, P. *Methods Enzymol.* **1971**, *18C*, 82–92; (e) Hörig, J. A.; Renz, P.; Heckmann, G. J. Biol. Chem. **1978**, *253*, 7410–7414; (f) Stupperich, E.; Steiner, I.; Rühlemann, M. Anal. Biochem. **1986**, *155*, 365–370.
- Chandra, T.; Brown, K. L. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2007, 26, 1–8.
- Chandra, T.; Zou, X.; Valente, E. J.; Brown, K. L. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5000–5003.
- Kumar, P.; Chandra, T.; Zou, S.; Brown, K. L. J. Phys. Chem. 2006, 110, 5–8.
- Chandra, T.; Brown, K. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 2071– 2074.
- Brown, K. L.; Chandra, T.; Zou, S.; Valente, E. J. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2005, 24, 1147–1165.
- Chandra, T.; Brown, K. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2005, 46, 8617– 8619.
- Chandra, T.; Zou, X.; Brown, K. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2004, 45, 7783–7786.
- Mukaiyama, T.; Hashimoto, Y.; Hayashi, Y.; Shoda, S. I. *Chem. Lett.* **1984**, 557–560.
- (a) Chu, C. K.; Baker, D. C. Nucleosides Nucleotides as Antitumor and Antiviral Agents; Plenum: New York, NY, 1993; (b) Frontiers in Nucleosides and Nucleic Acids; Schinazi, R. F., Liotta, D. C., Eds.; IHL: Georgia, 2004; (c) Recent Advances in Nucleosides: Chemistry and Chemotherapy; Chu, C. K., Ed.; Elsevier Science: New York, NY, 2002.
- 17. LePage, G. A.; Khaliq, A. Cancer Treat. Rep. 1979, 63, 53-57.
- 18. Friedrich, W.; Gross, G.; Bernhauer, K.; Zeller, P. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1960**, *43*, 704–712.
- (a) Hogenkamp, H. P. C.; Collins, D. A.; Grissom, C. B.; West, F. G. *Chemistry and Biochemistry of B*<sub>12</sub>; Banerjee, R., Ed.; John Wiley and Sons: New York, NY, 1999; p 921; (b) Bagnato, J. D.; Eilers, A. L.; Horton, R. A.; Grissom, C. B. *J. Biochem.* **2004**, *69*, 8987–8996; (c) Howard, W. A., Jr.; Bayomi, A.; Natarajan, E.; Aziza, M. A.; el-Ahmady, O.;

Grissom, C. B.; West, F. G. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1997**, *8*, 498– 502; (d) Mitchell, A. M.; Bayomi, A.; Natarajan, E.; Barrows, L. R.; West, F. G.; Grissom, C. B. *Enzym. Mech.* **1999**, *27*, 150– 154; (e) Bayomi, A. H.; Mitchell, A. M.; Natarajan, E. N.; Grissom, C. B.; West, F. G.; Aziza, M. A.; El-Ahmady, O. *Abstracts of Papers.* 214th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Las Vegas, NV, 7–11 September 1997; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1996; MEDI-123; Bayomi, A. H.; Mitchell, A. M.; Natarajan, E. N.; Grissom, C. B.; West, F. G.; Aziza, M. A.; El-Ahmady, O. *Abstracts of Papers.* 213th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, San Francisco, CA, 13–17 April 1997; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, MEDI-123.

- Morgan, A. C; Wilbur, D. S; Pathare, P. M. PCT Int. Appl., 1995; 101, WO 9527723.
- (a) Forbes, C. L.; Franck, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1424– 1425; (b) Brodie, J. D. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1969, 62, 461–467; (c) Grate, J. H.; Schrauzer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 4601–4611; Kleban, M.; Kautz, U.; Greul, J.; Hilgers, P.; Kugler, R.; Dong, H.-Q.; Jäger, V. Synthesis 2000, 1027; (d) Petrovic, Z. D.; Andelkovic, D.; Stevanovic, L. J. Serb. Chem. Soc. 2003, 68, 719–722.
- (a) Gantzer, C. J.; Wackett, L. P. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1991, 25, 715–722; (b) Habeck, B. D.; Sublette, K. L. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 1995, 51/52, 747–759; (c) Lesage, S.; Brown, S.; Millar, K. Ground Water Monit. Rem. 1996, 16, 76–85; (d) Glod, G.; Angst, W.; Holliger, C.; Schwarzenbach, R. P. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1997, 31, 253– 260; (e) Burris, D. R.; Delcomyn, C. A.; Smith, M. H.; Roberts, A. L. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1996, 30, 3047–3052; (f) Burris, D. R.; Delcomyn, C. A.; Deng, B. L.; Buck, L. E.; Hatfield, K. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 1998, 17, 1681–1688; (g) Semadeni, M.; Chiu, P. C.; Reinhard, M. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1998, 32, 1207–1213.
- (a) Shey, J.; van der Donk, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12403–12404; (b) McCauley, K. M.; Wilson, S. R.; van der Donk, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 4410–4411; (c) Pratt, D. A.; van der Donk, W. A. Chem. Commun. 2006, 558–560.
- Folkers, K. *B12*; Dolphin, D., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1982; p 1.
- 25. Chandra, T.; Brown, K. L. Unpublished results.
- Brown, K. L.; Zou, X.; Banka, R. R.; Perry, C. B.; Merques, H. M. *Inorg. Chem.* 2004, 43, 8130–8142.
- 27. Guided biosynthesis failed because the biosynthetic process could not incorporate the desired indole base or  $\alpha$ -indole ribonucleosides in the structure, the reason is still unknown.
- (a) Toraya, T.; Ishida, A. J. Biol. Chem. **1991**, 266, 5430–5437;
   (b) Fukuoka, M.; Yamada, S.; Miyoshi, S.; Yamashita, K.; Yamanishi, M.; Zou, X.; Brown, K. L.; Toraya, T. J. Biochem. **2002**, 132, 935–943.
- (a) Brown, K. L.; Zou, X.; Li, J.; Chen, G. *Inorg. Chem.* 2001, 40, 5942–5947; (b) Marzilli, L. G.; Toscano, J.; Randaccio, L.; Bresciani-Pahor, N.; Calligaris, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1979, 101, 6754–6756; (c) See Ref. 21c. (d) Glusker, J. P. *B*<sub>12</sub>; Dolphin, D., Ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1982; Vol. 1; (e) Brown, K. L.; Brooks, H. B. *Inorg. Chem.* 1991, 30, 3420–3430.
- 30. Brown, K. L.; Marques, H. M. Theochem 2005, 714, 209-215.
- (a) Lenhert, P. G. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A 1968, 303, 45– 84; (b) Savage, H. F. J.; Leadley, P. F.; Finney, J. L.; Timmons, P. A. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B 1987, 43, 280–295.
- (a) Woodward, R. B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1968, 17, 519–547; (b) Woodward, R. B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1971, 25, 283–304; (c) Woodward, R. B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1973, 33, 145–177.

- (a) Bonnett, R.; Godfrey, J. M.; Redman, D. G. J. Chem. Soc. 1963, C8, 1163; (b) Riether, D.; Mulzer, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 30–45; (c) Bonnett, R. Chem. Rev. 1963, 6, 573–605.
- Holly, F. W.; Shunk, C. H.; Peel, E. W.; Cahill, J. H.; Lavigne, J. B.; Folkers, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1952, 74, 4521–4525.
- (a) Stevens, J. D.; Ness, R. K.; Fletcher, H. G., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33, 1806–1810; (b) Kuzuhara, H.; Hewitt, G., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33, 1816–1819.
- Butler, P. A.; Elbert, M. O.; Lyskowski, A.; Gruber, K.; Kratky, C.; Krautler, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 45, 989–993.
- (a) Townsend, L. B. Chemistry of Nucleosides and Nucleotides; Springer: New York, NY, 1988; (b) Townsend, L. B. Chemistry of Nucleosides and Nucleotides; Springer: New York, NY, 1994; (c) Vorbrüggen, H.; Ruh-Pohlenz, C. Handbook of Nucleoside Synthesis; Wiley-Interscience: New York, NY, 2001.
- (a) Fischer, E.; Helferich, B. *Chem. Ber.* **1914**, 47, 210–235; (b)
   Hilbert, G. E.; Johnson, T. B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1930**, *52*, 4489–4494.
- Davoll, J.; Lowy, B. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1951, 73, 1650– 1655.
- 40. Ishido, Y.; Sato, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1961, 34, 1347-1348.
- Seela, F.; Winkeler, H.-D. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 226–230; (b) Ugarkar, B. G.; Castellino, A. J.; DaRe, J. M.; Kopcho, J. J.; Wiesner, J. B.; Schanzer, J. M.; Erion, M. D. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 2894–2905.
- Kazimierczuk, Z.; Cottam, H. B.; Revankar, G. R.; Robins, R. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, 106, 6379–6382; Kandasamy, R.; Imamura, N.; Robins, R. K.; Revankar, G. R. Tetrahedron Lett. **1987**, 28, 5107–5110.
- Cottam, H. B.; Petrie, C. R.; McKernan, P. A.; Goebel, R. J.; Dalley, N. K.; Davidson, R. B.; Robins, R. K.; Revankar, G. R. J. Med. Chem. 1984, 27, 1119–1127.
- Vorbrüggen, H.; Krolikiewicz, K.; Bennua, B. Chem. Ber. 1981, 114, 1234–1255; Cousineau, T. J.; Secrist, J. A., III. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 4351–4358.
- 45. (a) Hollingsworth, R. I.; Wang, G. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4267–4282; (b) Wong, C.-H.; Kathryn, K. M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 4465–4494.
- 46. Koji, O.; Hisoshi, W. Yakugaku Zasshi 1963, 83, 890-891.
- Hideyuki, S.; Kenji, O. Jpn. Kokai Kokkyo Koho JP 06263791, 1994.
- Furukawa, Y.; ichi, K.; Honjo, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1968**, 45, 4655–4658.
- Wright, R. S.; Tener, G. M.; Khorana, H. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 2004–2006.
- Prisbe, E. J.; Verheyden, J. P. H.; Moffatt, J. G. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 4784–4794.
- 51. Mikhailov, S. N.; Pfleiderer, W. Synthesis 1985, 4, 397-399.
- Kiss, J.; D'Souza, R. J. Carbohydr. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1980, 7, 141–157.
- Riley, T. A.; Larsen, S. B.; Avery, T. L.; Finch, R. A.; Robins, R. K. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 572–576.
- Sweeney, D. L.; Gearien, J. E.; Bauer, L.; Currie, B. L. J. Carbohydr. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1979, 6, 387–409.
- 55. Janardhanam, S.; Nambiar, K. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 3657–3660.
- 56. Baud, M. V.; Chavis, C.; Lucas, M.; Imbach, J.-L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 4437–4440.
- Mukaiyama, T.; Hayashi, Y.; Hashimoto, Y. Chem. Lett. 1985, 1087–1090.
- 58. Trost, B. M.; Nubling, C. Carbohydr. Res. 1990, 202, 1-12.

- 59. Reitz, A. B.; Rebarchak, M. C. *Nucleosides Nucleotides* **1992**, *11*, 1115–1121.
- 60. Okamoto, K.; Goto, T. JP 61207400, 1986.
- 61. Seley, K. L.; Salim, S.; Zhang, L. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 63-66.
- Seley, K. L.; Salim, S.; Zhang, L.; O'Daniel, P. I. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1612–1619.
- 63. Kirk, K. L.; Nagai, W.; Cohen, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 8389–8392.
- Kirk, K. L.; Cohen, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 3647– 3648.
- 65. Chandra, T.; Brown, K. L. Unpublished work.
- 66. Tyson, F. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1941, 63, 2024-2025.
- 67. Leo, M. O.; Catharine, O. W. Can. J. Res. 1947, 25B, 1-13.
- 68. Gribble, G. W.; Hoffman, J. H. Synthesis 1977, 12, 859-860.
- Fox, P. A.; Gray, S. D.; Bruck, M. A.; Wigley, D. E. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 6027–6036.
- Preobrazhenskaya, M. N.; Yartseva, I. V.; Ektova, L. V. Nucleic Acid Chem. 1978, 2 721–623.
- Preobrazhenskaya, M. N.; Vigdorchik, M. N.; Suvorov, N. N. Tetrahedron 1967, 23, 4653–4660.
- (a) Sato, Y.; Tateno, G.; Seio, K.; Sekine, M. Tetrahedron Lett.
   2002, 43, 3251–3254; (b) Morvan, F.; Rayner, B.; Imbach, J.-L.; Chang, D.-K.; Lown, J. W. Nucleic Acids Res. 1986, 5019–5035; (c) Morvan, F.; Rayner, B.; Imbach, J.-L.; Thenet, S.; Bertrand, J.-R.; Paoletti, J.; Malvy, C.; Paoletti, C. Nucleic Acids Res. 1987, 3421–3437; (d) Cazenova, C.; Chevrier, M.; Thuong, N. T.; Hélène, C. Nucleic Acids Res. 1987, 10507–10521; (e) Morvan, F.; Rayner, B.; Imbach, J.-L.; Lee, M.; Hartley, J. A.; Chang, D.-K.; Lown, J. W. Nucleic Acids Res. 1987, 7027–7044; (f) Gagnor, C.; Rayner, B.; Leonetti, J.-P.; Imbach, J.-L.; Lebleu, B. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989, 5107–5114; (g) Sun, J. S.; Giovannangeli, C.; Francois, J. C.; Kurfurst, R.; Garestier, T. M.; Asseline, U.; Behmoaras, T. S.; Thuong, N. T.; Hélène, C. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1991, 6023–6027.
- 73. García, J.; Díaz-Rodríguez, A.; Fernndez, S.; Sanghvi, Y. S.; Ferrero, M.; Gotor, V. J. Org. Chem. **2006**, *71*, 9765–9771.
- Greene, T. W.; Wuts, P. G. M. Protective groups in organic synthesis, 3rd ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, 1999.
- Wang, P.; Gullen, B.; Newton, M. G.; Cheng, Y.-Chi.; Schinazi, R. F.; Chu, C. K. J. Med. Chem. 1999, 42, 3390–3399.
- Bessodes, M.; Komiotis, D.; Antonakis, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1986, 27, 579–582.
- MacCoss, M.; Cameron, D. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1978, 60, 206–209.
- (a) Brown, K. L.; Evans, D. R.; Zubkowski, J. D.; Valente, E. J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1996**, *35*, 415–423; (b) Kratky, C.; Fräber, G.; Gruber, K.; Wilson, K.; Dauter, Z.; Nolting, H.-F.; Konrat, R.; Kräutler, B. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 4654–4670.

- (a) Calafat, A. M.; Taoka, S.; Puckett, J. M., Jr.; Semerad, C.; Yan, H.; Luo, L.; Chen, H.; Banerjee, R.; Marzilli, L. G. *Biochemistry* 1995, 34, 14125–14130; (b) Calafat, A. M.; Marzilli, L. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9182–9190; (c) Pagano, T. G.; Marzilli, L. G.; Flocco, M. M.; Tsai, C.; Carrell, H. L.; Glusker, J. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 531–542; (d) Pagano, T. G.; Marzilli, L. G. Biochemistry 1989, 28, 7213–7223; (e) Pagano, T. G.; Yohannes, P. G.; Hay, B. P.; Scott, J. R.; Finke, R. G.; Marzilli, L. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 1484–1491.
- Brown, K. L.; Hakimi, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 496–503.
- Townsend, L. B. Synthetic Procedures in Nucleic Acid Chemistry; Wiley Interscience: New York, NY, 1973; Vol II, pp 267–398.
- Chu, C. K.; Kabbani-EI, F. M.; Thompson, B. B. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1984, 3, 1–31.
- 83. (a) Imbach, J. L. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1975, 255, 177–184; (b) Rayner, B.; Tapiero, C.; Imbach, J. L. Carbohydr. Res. 1976, 47, 195–202; (c) Imbach, J. L.; Barascut, J. L.; Kam, B. L.; Rayner, B.; Tamby, C.; Tapiero, C. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1973, 10, 1069–1070; (d) Imbach, J. L.; Barascut, J. L.; Kam, B. L.; Tapiero, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 2, 129–130.
- Ravindranathan, S.; Kim, C. H.; Bodenhausen, G. J. Biomol. NMR 2003, 27, 365–375.
- Kumar, A.; Grace, R. C. R.; Madhu, P. K. Prog. NMR Spect. 2000, 37, 191–319.
- Fushman, D.; Cowburn, D. Methods Enzymol. 2001, 339, 109– 126.
- 87. Levitt, M. H.; DiBari, L. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1992, 69, 3124-3127.
- Wang, T.; Cai, S.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 8639–8643.
- Dittmer, J.; Kim, C.-H.; Bodenhausen, G. J. Biomol. NMR 2003, 26, 259–275.
- Pervushin, K. V.; Riek, R.; Wider, G.; Wüthrich, K. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997, 94, 12366–12371.
- Fischer, M. W. F.; Zeng, L.; Majumdar, A.; Zuiderweg, E. R. P. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 8016–8019.
- Kumar, P.; Kumar, A. J. Magn. Reson., Ser. A 1995, 115, 155– 164.
- 93. Kumar, P.; Kumar, A. J. Magn. Reson., Ser. A 1996, 119, 29-37.
- 94. Werbelow, L. G. J. Phys. Chem. 1990, 94, 6663-6666.
- 95. Tjandra, N.; Bax, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 8076-8082.
- Dalvit, C.; Bodenhausen, G. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1989, 161, 554–560.
- Plavec, J.; Roselt, P.; Földesi, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Magn. Reson. Chem. 1998, 36, 732.
- Altona, C.; Sundaralingam, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 2333–2344.

#### **Biographical sketch**



**Tilak Chandra** was born in Pithoragarh, state of Uttaranchal, India. He completed his MS degree from Kumoun University and Ph.D. degree from Central Drug Research Institute (CDRI) Lucknow in 1995, where he worked on nucleoside syntheses as potential antiviral and antiallergenic activities. In 2002 he joined Prof. Kenneth L. Brown's research group at Ohio University as postdoctoral Scientist to work on the semisynthesis of B3-deaza cobalamins. Currently he is working in Prof. Broderick's research group and his research interests concentrate on the synthesis of nucleosides, nucleotides, and oligonucleotides.



Kenneth L. Brown was born in Philadelphia, PA. He earned a BS in Biochemistry from the University of Chicago in 1968 and a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from the University of Pennsylvania in 1971. After working as an NIH Postdoctoral Fellow in the Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics at the University of California at Davis in Lloyd Ingraham's laboratory, he joined the faculty in the Department of Chemistry at the University of Texas, Arlington, in 1975. In 1990 he moved to Mississippi State University as Professor and Head of the Department of Chemistry, and in 1996 he moved to Ohio University where he is now Professor of Chemistry and Biochemistry.